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September 30, 2013

To the Board of Education and Citizens of Wicomico County:

The Board of Education of Wicomico County’s (Board) Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 is submitted herewith pursuant to the
Annotated Code of the State of Maryland, section 5-109. The CAFR is a thorough and detailed
presentation of the Board’s financial position, activities and balances for the fiscal year ended.

This letter of transmittal, prepared by management, should be read in conjunction with MD&A
and is intended to introduce the Board’s CAFR. The responsibility for both the accuracy of the
data and the completeness of the CAFR rests with the management of the Board. The Board’s
comprehensive framework of internal controls provides assurance of the accuracy of the
information included in the CAFR. Because the cost of internal controls should not exceed
anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that
the financial statements are free of any material misstatements. This report was prepared by
the Division of Business Support Services and to the best of our knowledge and belief the
enclosed data is complete and accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner
which presents fairly the financial position and results of operations of the Board.

The financial statements of the Board have been audited by TGM Group LLC, certified public
accountants and they have issued an unmodified “clean” opinion on the Board’s financial
statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. The auditor’s opinion is presented as the
first component of the financial section of the CAFR.

The Board in compliance with OMB Circular A-133, has issued a separate Compliance Report.
The report includes the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards as well as the auditor’s
report on internal control over financial reporting and the report on the Board’s compliance
with requirements applicable to major Federal Awards.

IT 15 THE POLICY OF THE WicoMico COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION TO PROVIDE EQUAL EDUCATIONAL AND EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITIES REGARDLESS OF AGE, GENDER, RACE, COLOR, RELIGION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, DISABILITY OR SEXUAL ORIENTATION,



Reporting Entity Profile

The Board of Education of Wicomico County is one of twenty-four (24) school systems
established by law in the state of Maryland. The school systems consist of the twenty-three
(23) counties and the City of Baltimore. Each county board of education is a body politic and
corporate. The Board of Education of Wicomico County (Board) was established in 1867 and
is ranked 15th in Maryland according to student enrollment as of September 30, 2012. Its
mission is to provide all students an educational foundation and a set of skills which will enable
them to become responsible and productive citizens in our society. The governing body of the
school system is the Board of Education which is composed of seven (7) members appointed by
the governor for staggered five (5) year terms. The Board of Education determines educational
policy and employs a superintendent of schools for a four-year term to administer the school
system.

During the 2012-2013 school year, the school system served 14,489 students (a decrease of 31
students from the prior year) in seventeen (17) elementary schools, seven (7) secondary
schools, one career-technology high school, one evening high school, an alternative learning
program, and an early learning program. Enrollment for next school year is projected to
increase modestly. The ratio of professional staff (including administrators and faculty) to
students for the 2012-2013 school year was approximately one staff member to 11 students.
Student demographics for the 2012-2013 school year included: 59.2% students that qualified
for free/reduced meals; 12.1% students with disabilities; and 3.8% students that were English
Language Learners. In June 2013, the school system graduated 846 students.

In accordance with state law the Board of Education developed in 2002 a Comprehensive
Master Plan. The 2012-2013 school year marked the tenth year of implementation of the
strategic plan. The plan is organized around the school system’s three (3) strategic priorities of
High Student Achievement, Safe Learning Environment, and Effective and Efficient
Operations. Progress is reported through annual updates of the Comprehensive Master Plan
with the Maryland State Department of Education (MSDE). Such updates are available on the
MSDE website.

The Board is a component unit of Wicomico County, Maryland, and is fiscally dependent on
Wicomico County and the State of Maryland to appropriate funding for its operations. The
Board has no authority to levy taxes or issue bonded debt. Accordingly, the financial condition
of the Board is impacted by the financial condition of these funding authorities. During FY
2013 the Board received 21.0% of its district-wide revenues for operations (current expense)
from Wicomico County compared to 68.4% from the State of Maryland. Chart 1 reveals the
five (5) year history of district-wide revenues, comparing the sources of funds.



Chart 1 - District-wide (current expense fund) revenue components
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Wicomico Co. - for Operations | $50,204,655 | 28.8%| $50,781,711 | 28.1%| $43,196,892 | 25.1%| $36,196,802 | 22.2%| $37,000,000 | 21.0%| |(513,204,655) -26.3%
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State of Maryland $109,369,266 | 62.8%|5113,424,856 | 62.7%| $110,403,814 | 64.1%| $114,249,692 | 69.9%| $120,324,844 | 68.4%| | $10,955578 10.0%
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Total | $174,088,742 | 100.0%| $180,993,935 | 100.0%) $172,345,332 | 100.0%| $163,386,171 | 100.0%| $175,889,164 | 100.0% $1,800,422 1.0%)

Approximately 2.3 million square feet of building space is maintained by the Board. Of the 27
school buildings in our inventory, 60 % of them have aged more than 25 years since either
their original or last major renovation. The average age of our inventory is 33 years. The
oldest building in use is East Salisbury Elementary built in 1942. The newest facility in use
was completed in 2010, James M Bennett High School. Our school buildings are multi-purpose
facilities, serving many community groups and organizations for meetings and recreational use
when school is not in session.

Assessment of the School System’s Economic Condition

Wicomico County continues to struggle economically, while overall our state’s economy has
improved slightly. Since Wicomico County is predominantly a rural county and physically
removed from the Baltimore/Washington/Philadelphia economic corridor, our county has not
experienced any real job growth, or any significant turn-around in the housing market.

Because of this stagnation, our county government has limited resources and has adopted a very




conservative approach to budgeting. This approach resulted in a marginal increase, $803,108,
in local aid for education in FY 2013. This followed two (2) consecutive years of draconian
cuts in local education funding, $7.6 million in FY 2011 and $7.0 million in FY 2012. Since
FY 2009 local aid to education has been reduced by $13.2 million, a decrease of 26.3%.

On the other hand, because state aid is based upon a county’s wealth and since Wicomico’s
wealth has decreased significantly in comparison with other counties in Maryland, we have
experienced a dramatic increase in state aid for education. State aid grew by over $6.1 million,
or 5.3% in FY 2013. Since FY 2009, state aid has increased by $11.0 million, or 10.0%.

Federal aid for education has been instrumental in assisting Wicomico with balancing the loss
of local funding. This has been made possible by the flexibility permitted with the Education
Jobs Act funds. In FY 2011, our Board made a conscious decision to hold and not spend $3.1
million of Education Jobs Act Funds. The ability to hold the funds till September 30, 2012 and
use the dollars to fund school-based salaries and benefits in FY 2013 enabled Wicomico to
avoid a budget disaster. This budgeting strategy resulted in FY 2013 ending strong, with
revenues exceeding expenditures by $2.1 million, of which $1.6 million was transferred at June
30, 2013 to the Capital Projects Fund, School Construction Savings Fund (SCSF); some good
news in light of the continued poor economic environment. Overall, FY 2013 General Fund
revenues increased 5.7 % over the prior year, while expenditures grew by only 3.1%.

Long-term Financial Planning

Future projections for revenue remain tempered. State aid is projected to increase, by
approximately 2%-3%, over the next three (3) years, while county aid is expected to only grow
at the maintenance of effort (MOE) level, 1%-2%. MOE is the minimum level of local funding
required by state law in order to receive any additional state aid allocated to a county in the
ensuing year.

During FY 2014 we are projecting consolidated revenues to increase by only $2.1 million,
while on-going-costs of doing business (fixed costs) are projected to increase $5.97 million.
Consequently, the school system will cut an additional $3.54 million in existing budget line
items in order to balance the FY 2014 budget. Since FY 2010, our school system will have cut
over $21.9 million in operating costs from our operating budget. This process of cutting
existing budget line items, since adequate revenues are not available, in order to meet on-going-
costs of doing business (fixed costs) causes the Board great concern. Efforts are ongoing to
inform the community of the consequences of continuing to balance the General Fund budget
by cutting administrative, student support services, operations, maintenance, and capital costs
while attempting to avoid cuts to direct student instruction. Eventually, the individual
classroom will be negatively impacted since there will come a point when the support
framework for instructional delivery will be inadequate and thus instruction will suffer.



Legislation that passed in 2012 substantially changed the MOE law. The new law required a
county, if they had failed to meet the FY 2012 MOE level of funding, to set the county income
tax rate at the highest level permitted by current law, 3.2%, and set the county property tax rate
at the maximum amount allowable under the county’s charter. In exchange for these actions,
the state permitted a county to re-base the MOE calculation using the lower funding level from
the previous year. Because Wicomico County did not meet MOE for FY 2012, this law was
applicable to Wicomico County for FY 2013 and FY 2014. In an effort to avoid having to fund
education at the FY 2012 MOE level as required by this new law, which was $50.1 million,
our County Council voted to comply with this new law for both FY 2013 and FY 2014. For
FY 2013, because of a decrease in property assessments, our county had to raise the property
tax rate seven (7) cents to raise the maximum revenue amount permitted by the charter.
Likewise, for FY 2014, because of continued falling property assessments, the County Council
has raised the property tax rate another 6.8 cents in order to comply with the law. By doing
this, the county has raised sufficient funds to meet the MOE required levels of funding. In fact,
FY 2013 county funding exceeded the MOE level by $597,000 and FY 2014 funding is
projected to exceed MOE by $629,000. Since this new MOE law sunsets at the end of FY
2014, we are unsure what our County Council may do in FY 2015 and beyond. At best, we
are hoping for at least MOE level funding.

As indicated in last year’s CAFR, a very significant piece of legislation that passed in 2012
involved the state legislature pushing back pension costs to local governments. That legislation
set in law the following amounts (FY13 - $2.2 million, FY14 - $2.8 million, FY15 - $2.7
million, FY18 - $3.2 million) that the Board must remit to the state toward state teacher
pension costs, previously 100% funded by the state. The bill also requires local county
governments to appropriate to local Boards of Education, in addition to MOE, these established
amounts for FY 2013 through FY 2016, so as to at least partially offset the additional costs
imposed on local Boards of Education. In turn, county governments are to receive additional
revenues to help pay these set amounts as a result of revenue enhancements enacted in the
legislation. Commencing in FY 2017, Boards of Education will be required to pay the “normal
cost” of retirement for all qualifying employees based upon current salaries. At that same time,
local county governments will be required to include in the minimum per pupil MOE
calculation for that year, the amount of the FY 2016 established pension cost amount, which for
Wicomico will be $3.2 million. '

Major School System Initiatives

To assist us in the planning process, the Board of Education of Wicomico County has adopted
criteria for budget development established by the Association of School Business Officials
International (ASBO Int’l) and the Government and Finance Officers Association (GFOA). FY
2013 marks the third year of utilizing the ASBO Int’l criteria and the first year using the GFOA
criteria. We believe that in conjunction with the CAFR, these budgeting and reporting
processes will make budgeting and financial reporting for the Board of Education of Wicomico
County more closely comply with principles and standards established by the National Advisory
Council on State and Local Budgeting. Also, the processes established to create these
documents continue to assist us in planning for the future by forcing management to look at
data from a more analytical perspective and ask tough questions of budget managers. It will



also enable the Board to consider its return on the investment of public funds for education in
Wicomico County.

Other major budget initiatives to be pursued include: 1) voluntary retirement incentive option
(VRIO). The VRIO was established for the primary purpose of offering to employees an
incentive to retire. The VRIO plan provided a budget savings for FY 2014 of approximately
$646,000 in salary and enabled the Board to cut 7 additional positions, saving an additional
$359,000, without having to lay-off a single employee; 2) seeking state and county funding to
complete the Bennett Middle School replacement project and much needed systemic renovation
projects as a result of deferred maintenance brought about by continued budget reductions and
limited capital funding.

A very unfortunate event that we believe will have unintended consequences in the future is our
County Council’s termination of the School Construction Savings Plan (SCSP). Established in
2007 by the Wicomico County Council, the plan enabled the Board to set aside, or transfer
surplus funds, over a base amount of $300,000, from the General Fund Operating budget to the
Capital Projects budget to complete systemic renovation and major maintenance projects not
funded through the County’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). June 30, 2013 will mark the
last of such set asides (transfers) from the Board’s General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund
for the SCSP. Over the years this plan and the funds generated have been used: 1) to help our
County Government fund MOE for the school system ($2.0 million in FY 2010), 2) to help our
County fund the Board’s General Fund budget (FY 2012 $1.0 million), 3) to leverage state aid
to complete various systemic renovation projects ($3.0 million has leveraged $2.4 million of
state aid). Unfortunately, the County Council on June 7, 2011 passed resolution 71-2011,
terminating the School Construction Savings Plan effective on June 30, 2013. Despite
numerous discussions with county representatives, the reinstatement of this plan is not
anticipated. We are concerned that the loss of this funding vehicle will significantly reduce the
Board’s ability to fund future major maintenance projects and leverage future state dollars for
systemic renovations.

Budgetary Controls

The Board maintains a system of budgeting and accounting controls designed to assist
management in meeting its responsibilities for reporting financial information. These controls
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed and
recorded with management’s authorization. Account managers are held responsible via this
system for assuring that expenditures are planned and made in accordance with approved
budgets.

The Board prepares an annual Consolidated Current Expense Budget in accordance with
Maryland law. The budget document provides budgets for the Governmental Funds and
Proprietary Funds of the Board. The Governmental Funds consist of the General Fund
(unrestricted current expense), the Special Revenue Fund (restricted current expense) and the
Capital Projects Fund. The Proprietary Fund consists of the Board’s Food Service operation.



The proposed budget is required to be submitted to the Wicomico County Executive by March
15" of each year. The Wicomico County Council provides final approval and notifies the
Board of its appropriation by late May, or early June. The Board finalizes and approves its
budget in late June. The General Fund (unrestricted current expense) is adopted by categories
(e.g., administration, instructional salaries, special education) as prescribed in Maryland State
law. Transfers between categories during the year require Wicomico County Council approval.

Annual operating budgets for Special Revenue Funds (restricted current expense) from state and
federal grants must receive grantor approval. For over 95% of our grants, the state of
Maryland serves as the grantor agency. The grants are also reviewed with the Board of
Education upon award. Budget amendments to grants require grantor approval.

The Capital Projects Fund budget is developed after the County approves their annual Capital
Improvement Plan (CIP), usually in early March, and after the state adopts their annual capital
budget in early April. This budget accounts for appropriations specifically earmarked for new
construction, renovations and major systemic maintenance projects in accordance with state
law.

The lone proprietary budget, the Food Service Fund, is prepared and approved through a
separate review process involving the Division of Food Services, the Division of Business
Support Services and the Board of Education. This collaborative effort ensures compliance
with all applicable federal and state laws involving accounting for USDA commodities, USDA
funding for free and reduced eligible meals and local student payments.

Awards

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Board of
Education of Wicomico County for its comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. This is the third consecutive year that the Board achieved this
prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit
must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial
report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable
legal requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We
believe that our current CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requ?‘ements and are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another
certificate.

The Association of School Business Officials International (ASBO) has awarded a Certificate of
Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Board of Education of Wicomico County for its
comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. This award is
the highest form of recognition in school system financial reporting issued by ASBO
International and is valid for one year. This is the third consecutive year that the Board was



awarded the ASBO Certificate of Excellence in Financial Reporting. We believe that our
current CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Excellence Program’s requirements and are
submitting it to ASBO for consideration.

In addition, the Board of Education of Wicomico County also received from ASBO the
Meritorious Budget Award (MBA) for its annual budget document for the year beginning July
1, 2012. This is the second consecutive year that the Board has received the MBA from ASBO

International.
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Salisbury, Maryland

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
The Board of Education of Wicomico County, a component unit of Wicomico County,
Maryland, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the Board’s basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

955 Mt. Hermon Road | Salisbury, MD 21804 | 410-742-1328 | 1-888-546-1574 | FAX 410-742-6855
www.tgmgroupllc.com



significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of The Board of
Education of Wicomico County as of June 30, 2013, and the respective changes in financial
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis on pages 17 through 33, schedules of funding progress
and employer contributions on pages 72 through 73, and budgetary comparison information
on pages 74 through 78 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise The Board of Education of Wicomico County’s basic financial
statements. The introductory section, additional supplementary information, and statistical
section as listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and
are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The additional supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relate directly to the underlying
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accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the additional supplementary information is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a separate report
dated September 30, 2013 on our consideration of The Board of Education of Wicomico
County's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering The
Board of Education of Wicomico County’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

Jﬂﬂ?ﬂ %710%”(&,

Salisbury, Maryland
September 30, 2013
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2013

This section of the Board of Education of Wicomico County’s (Board) comprehensive annual
financial report (CAFR) provides management’s narrative, overview and analysis of the
financial performance of the Board for the fiscal year that ended on June 30, 2013. Please
read this analysis in conjunction with the Letter of Transmittal located in the introduction of
this report and the Board’s financial statements, which follow this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

e The Board’s financial status improved during FY 2013 as total net position increased
by $2.9 million, or 1.3%.
o Overall revenues were $199.2 million and expenses were $196.3 million.
o Net investment in capital assets of the Board account for the increase in net
position as the Board continues to invest in updating older school facilities.

e The Board’s total net position is $230.4 million. Of this total, $6.1 is unrestricted
and available to meet the Board’s ongoing obligations.

e At the end of the current fiscal year, the Board’s governmental funds reported
combined fund balances of $16.5 million, an increase of only $78,589.

e The unassigned fund balance in the General fund equals $300,000, the same amount
as the prior year, in conformance with the guidelines established by the County
Council for the Board’s School Construction Savings Fund (SCSF). Unfortunately,
this marks the final year of the SCSF which was terminated by the county council
effective at the end of FY 2013.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS T ——"

Annual Financial Report

In addition to the MD&A, this section of the CAFR
contains the financial statements which consist of the
parts as noted in Table 1. Maneupmume s usic Rigirad

Discussion "
Finuncial Supplementary

e 3 .
; Statemenis Information

Irertvsies

The basic financial statements consist of two types of
statements: district-wide financial statements and fund
financial statements.

District-wide financial statements

o ; Nates
Disirict-Wide Fund T the

These statements report information about the R B i Limancial
Board as a whole using accounting methods

similar to those used by private-sector
companies. There are two district-wide
statements:

Summary 1 Detail
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2013

1) Statement of net position - includes all of the Board’s assets and liabilities
and reflects the difference (net position) between the assets and liabilities
which is one way to measure the financial health of an entity.

2) Statement of activities which reflects the current year’s revenues and
expenses regardless of when cash is received or paid.

» Over time, increases or decreases in the Board’s net assets are an
indicator of whether its financial position is improving or deteriorating,
respectively.

» To assess the overall health of the Board, additional non-financial
factors such as changes in the condition of school buildings and other
facilities must be considered.

In the district-wide financial statements, the Board’s activities are divided into two
categories:

» Governmental activities - Most of the Board’s basic services are included
here, such as regular and special education, transportation, administration,
operations, maintenance, and community services. Local county and state
aid finance the majority of these activities.

» Business-type activities - The Board accounts for all of the Food Service
activities here.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the District’s
funds - focusing on its most significant or “major” funds - not the District as a whole.
Funds are accounting devices the District uses to keep track of specific sources of
funding and spending on particular programs. Some funds are required by State law,
while the Board establishes other funds to control and manage money for particular
purposes or to show that it is properly using certain revenues (e.g., federal grants).
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The District has three kinds of funds:

» Governmental funds - Most of the district’s basic services are included in
governmental funds, which generally focus on (1) cash and other financial
assets that can readily be converted to cash flow in and out, and (2) the
balances left at year-end that are available for spending. Consequently, the
governmental funds statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps to
determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be
spent in the near future to finance the Board’s programs. Because this
information does not encompass the additional long-term focus of the
government-wide statements, we have provided additional information to
explain the relationship (or differences) between them.

» Proprietary funds - The Food Service operation is the only fund accounted for
as a proprietary fund. Proprietary funds are reported the same way as
business-type activities in the government-wide statements.

» Fiduciary funds - The District is the trustee, or agent, for assets that belong to
others, such as the Employees Retirement Plan and the 401(a) Employer
Matching Plan. The School Activities Fund is also accounted for as a
fiduciary fund. The District is responsible for ensuring that the assets
reported in these funds are used only for their intended purposes and by those
to whom the assets belong. These activities are excluded from the government-
wide financial statements because the District cannot use these assets to finance
1ts operations.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE BOARD AS A WHOLE

Net position - the Board’s combined net position was $230.4 million on June 30, 2013.
This is an increase of 2.9 million, or 1.3%, over the prior year. (see Table 2.)
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Table 2
THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
(in millions of dollars)
Governmental Business-Type Board of Ed Change
Activities Activities Total 2013 - 2012
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 $ %
Current and other assets $38.2 $37.5 $1.6 $1.4 $39.8 $38.9 $0.8 2.1%
Capital Assets $214.5 $211.3 $0.4 $0.4 $214.8 $211.7 $3.1 1.5%
TOTAL ASSETS $252.7 $248.8 $1.9 $1.8 $254.6 $250.6 $3.9 1.6%
Current Liabilities $20.2 $19.5 $0.1 $0.1 $20.3 $19.6 $0.7 3.6%
Long-Term Liabiliies $39 8§36 $0.0 $0.0 $3.9 $3.6 $0.3 9.2%
TOTAL LIABILITIES 241 $23.1 $0.1 $0.1 $24.2 $23.2 $1.0 4.5%
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets $212.2 $209.4 $0.4 $0.4 $212.6 $209.7 $2.9 1.4%
Restricted $11.7 $11.6 $0.0 $0.0 $11.7 $11.6 $0.0 0.0%
Unrestricted $4.7 $4.7 $1.4 $1.3 $6.1 $6.1 $0.0 0.3%
TOTAL NET POSITION $228.6 &225.7 $1.8 $1.7 230.4 $227.5 2.9 1.3%

Changes in net position - the District’s total revenues were $199.2 million for the year
ended June 30, 2013 (See Table 3). The county appropriation and state formula aid
accounted for approximately 75.9% of total revenue for the year. Another 24.1% came from
program revenues and other revenue sources such as investment earnings which remain

significantly depressed due to current market conditions.

The total cost of all programs and services was $196.3 million. The District’s expenses are
predominantly related to providing direct educational services to students, 77.5%. The
purely administrative activities of the District accounted for approximately 3.3% of total
expenses. Total revenue exceeded total expenses by $2.9 million, thereby increasing net

position $2.9 million over the prior year.
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Table 3

CHANGES IN NET POSITION

(in millions of dollars)

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Governmental Activities

® Net position increased $2.8 million in FY 2013.

® Revenues increased by $12.7 million, attributable to:
o state formula aid for operations increased $5.1 million

o capital contributions from state and county sources increased $4.2 million

Total
Governmental Business-Type Board of Ed Percentage
Activities Activities Total Change
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013-2012

Program revenues

Charges for senices $0.3 $0.6 $1.4 $1.6 $1.8 $2.2 -19.0%

Federal and state grants $34.1  $33.3 $5.2 $4.9 $39.3 $38.3 2.8%

Capital Contributions $6.9 $2.7 $0.0 $0.0 $6.9 $2.7 152.3%
General revenues

County Appro. for operations $37.0 $36.2 $0.0 $0.0 $37.0 $36.2 2.2%

County Appro. for pension $2.2 $0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $2.2 $0.0 -

State formula aid $112.0 $106.9 $0.0 $0.0 $112.0 $106.9 4.7%

Other $0.1 $0.1 $0.0 $0.0 $0.1 $0.1 -34.2%

TOTAL REVENUE $192.6 $179.9 $6.6 $6.5 $199.2 $186.4 6.9%
Expenses:
Instruction & Special Ed $152.1 $149.8 $0.0 $0.0 $152.1 $149.8 1.6%
Administration $6.4 $6.2 $0.0 $0.0 $6.4 $6.2 2.8%
Support Senvices $30.5 $28.9 $7.2 $6.7 $37.8 $35.6 6.1%

TOTAL EXPENSES $189.1 $184.8 $7.2 $6.7 $196.3 3191.6 2.5%
Excess(deficiency) before contributions,

special & extraordinary items

and transfers $3.5 -$4.9 -$50.6 -$0.2 $2.9 -$5.2 -156.0%
Transfers: -$0.7 -$0.8 $0.7 $0.8 $0.0 $0.0 0.0%
Incr. (decr.) in net position $2.8 -35.7 $0.1 $0.5 $2.9 -$5.2 -156.0%

o county funding for pension costs as required by state law for the first time in FY
2013 amounted to $2.2 million of the $3.0 million increase in county appropriations
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See Chart 1.a and 1.b below for a breakdown of the District’s revenues as a percentage of
total revenue for FY 2013 and 2012.

REVENUE: [ FY 2013 | REVENUE: [ FY 2012 [ ] Incr (Decr) |
$ % $ % $ %
Charges for senices 333920 017% Charges for senices 599221 033% (265,301) 44.27%
Federal and state grants 34,109,723 1771% Federal and state grants 33,337,685 1853% 772,038 2.32%
Capital Contributions 6,888,004 358% Capital Contributions 2729726 152% 4158278 152.33%
County Appro, for operations 37,000,000 19.21%  County Appro, for operations 36,196,892 20.12% 803,108 222%
County Appro, for pension 2173593 1.13%  County Appro, for pansion 0 000% 2,173,593 -
State formula aid 111,997,661 58.16%  State formula aid 106,945,873 59.44% 5,051,788 4.72%
Other 70,852 0.04% Other 107,635 0.06% (36,783) -34.17%
$192573753 100.00% $179917032 10000%  §$12656721  7.03%
Chart1.a Chart1.b
WCBOE REVENUES WCBOE REVENUES
FY 2013 FY 2012
Federal and
Charges for state grants Charges fo Federal and
services o " _state grants
0. 17.7% services 18.6%
Capital
Contributions Capital
State ;&rn‘mlﬂ 36% Confributions
1.5%
58.2% AOnuntg
Coui ppro. for
Appr: tfyor operations County Appro.
9.29% for operations
e 20.1%

Charts 2.a and 2.b disclose the breakdown of expenses for FY 2013 and 2012 for
Governmental Activities. The Charts and expense disclose what percentage each major
component of expenditures is to the total for each year. Instruction and Special Education
costs make up the lion share of expenditures at around 81%. Support Services, which
includes expenses associated with student support services, student health services, facility
operations and maintenance and student transportation costs, rose .6% as a result of increase
in utility costs and efforts to increase maintenance of our facilities. Administration remained
relatively flat coming in once again at 3.4% of total expenditures. This has been made
possible by continued efforts to shave administrative costs despite rising costs associated with
technology. The Board continues to invest in our technology infrastructure in order to
upgrade our software (firewalls) and infrastructure (servers and switches) to protect the wide
variety of student, employee and financial data from cyber-attacks. The risk of cyber-attacks
must be mitigated in order to maintain the security and confidentiality of this very important
information which is crucial to the operation of the system. Also, the need to be prepared
for the Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC) testing
associated with the common core curriculum will continue to place a burden on
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administrative spending well into FY 2015, which represents the first year that the PARCC

testing is to be rolled out to all students in tested grades.

FY 2013 FY 2012
EXPENSES: $ EXPENSES: $
Instruction & Special Ed $152,144,106 Instruction & Special Ed $149,754 643
Admin. $6,396,885 Admin. $6,221,005
Support Senices $30,545,923 Support Senices $28,860,407
189,086,914 $184,836,055
Chart2.a Chart2.b
WCBOE EXPENSES WCBOE EXPENSES
FY 2013 FY 2012
Support Support
Services Services
Instruction Instruction
& Special & Special
Ed Ed
80.5% 81.0%

Business-type Activities {Refer to Table 2 and 3 for details}

The District’s only business-type activity, the food service operation, had an increase in net
position of $78,193 in FY 2013. Commencing in FY 2008, the Board's General Fund
Budget provided support to the food service operation in the form of an interfund transfer of
$750,000. This transfer was reduced to $675,000 in FY 2013 due to General Fund budget
constraints. This amount represents the Board’s commitment to cover the employer’s share
of Health Care costs for eligible Food Service employees, which for FY 2013 equaled
approximately $644,612, and for other food service operational costs.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT’S FUNDS

The financial performance of the District as a whole is reflected in its governmental funds as
well. As the District completed the year, its governmental funds reported a combined fund
balance of $16.5 million, an increase of only $78,589 over last year’s ending fund balance.
This increase was a result of decreases in the general fund and special revenue fund balances
of $139,785 and $30,676, respectively, netted against an increase of $249,050 in the capital
projects fund balance. Revenues for the District’s governmental funds were $192.6 million,
an increase of $12.7 million over the prior year. This increase was due in large part to state
formula aid for operations increasing $5.1 million, capital contributions from state and county
sources increasing $4.2 million and county funding for pension costs (newly required in FY
2013 by Senate Bill 1301) of $2.2 million.

Total expenditures were $194.9 million for the year, an increase of $8.7 million. The
largest increase coming in the form of capital project costs associated with the
commencement of the Bennett Middle School project and other systemic renovation projects
started in FY 2013.

General Fund
The General Fund includes the primary operations of the District in providing educational
services to students from pre-kindergarten through grade 12, including pupil transportation

and the maintenance and operation of all school facilities. See Table 4 for a summary of
General Fund revenues and expenditures.
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Table 4
GENERAL FUND REVENUES
$ %
FY 2013 FY 2012 Incr (Decr) Incr. (Decr.)
REVENUES
Wicomico County Appropriations
For Operations $ 37,000,000 $ 36,196,892 $ 803,108 2.2%
For Pension 2,173,593 - 2,173,593 -
Other Local Revenue 325,554 591,549 (265,995) -45.0%
State of Maryland 118,903,368 113,415,955 5,487,413 4.8%
State of Maryland Share of Retirement 10,331,627 13,945,688 (3,614,061) -25.9%
Other 343,179 371,624 (28,445) -7.7%
TOTAL REVENUES $ 169,077,321 $ 164,521,708 $ 4,555,613 2.8%
GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES
$ %
FY 2013 FY 2012 Incr (Decr)  Incr. (Decr.)
EXPENDITURES
Administration $ 4015004 § 4,026,276 $ (11,272) -0.3%
School Management and Support 11,486,015 11,192,602 293,413 2.6%
Instructional Salaries 63,157,734 62,102,169 1,055,565 1.7%
Textbooks and Instructional Supplies 2,721,598 2,339,166 382,432 16.3%
Other Instruction Costs 1,803,858 1,097,022 706,836 64.4%
Special Education 14,295,444 14,202,738 92,706 0.7%
Student Personnel Senices 2,125,597 2,023,139 102,458 5.1%
Health Senices 1,379,357 1,366,303 13,054 1.0%
Student Transportation 7,990,825 7,774,899 215,926 2.8%
Operation of Plant and Equipment 9,696,261 9,667,974 28,287 0.3%
Maintenance of Plant 2,940,630 2,610,900 329,730 12.6%
Fixed Charges 30,938,445 30,281,746 656,699 2.2%
Community Senices 177,976 174,237 3,739 21%
Capital Qutlay 5,162,895 5,621,444 (458,549) -8.2%
Debt Senice - Lease Principal Pymts 1,343,707 1,340,070 3,637 0.2%
Debt Senice - Lease Interest Pymts 36,646 39,654 (3,008) -7.6%
State of Maryland Share of Retirement 10,331,627 13,945,688 (3,614,061) -25.9%
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 169,603,619 169,806,027 (202,408) -0.1%
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Increase in Rate Stabilization Reserve 1,455,335 1,240,084 215,251 17.4%
Capital Lease Proceeds 1,614,911 1,904,867 (289,956) -15.2%
Interfund Transfers - Print Shop (372,622) (413,677) 41,055 -9.9%
Interfund Transfers - School Constr Fund (1,636,111) (1,858,952) 222 841 -12.0%
Interfund Transfers - Other (675,000) (750,000) 75,000 -10.0%
386,513 122,322 264,191 216.0%
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) of Revenues & Other
Financing Sources (Uses) over Expenditures  $ (139,785) $ (5,161,997) $ 5,022,212 -97.3%
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Revenues increased by $4.5 million as a result of the significant increase in state aid of $5.5
million. This increase was in large part due to our county’s increase in the number of
students eligible for free and reduced meals (FARM). Our FARM population increased by
736 students, or 10.2%, as of October 1, 2011, the date upon which FY 2013 state aid is
calculated for compensatory education.

Special Revenue Fund (Restricted Grant Funds)

These Funds are used to account for grants from Federal, State and Local sources. Grants
provide a major source of revenue for specific educational programs not funded by the
General Fund. Programs include initiatives for Special Education students and disadvantaged
students. Table 5 below reflects a significant increase in grant funds over the prior year.
Federal funding accounted for the increase as a result of the Board holding ARRA Education
Job Act funds to assist with balancing the FY 2013 general fund budget. The Education Job
Act funds grant totaled $3.1 million. These funds paid for school based salaries and benefits
in FY 2013; costs that were typically paid for from general fund revenues. The Board’s
strategic budget plan from FY 2011 called for the retention of these federal funds until FY
2013 to help plug the anticipated FY 2013 general fund budget shortfall.

Table 5
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
$
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Increase %

FY 2013 FY 2012 (Decrease) Incr. (Decr.)

REVENUES
Federal Through State $ 15,467,667 $ 11,664,252 §$ 3,803,415 32.61%
State of Maryland 959,923 756,621 203,302 26.87%
Other 257,954 317,870 (59,916) -18.85%
TOTAL REVENUES § 16,685,544 $ 12,738,743 $ 3,946,801 30.98%

Capital Projects Fund

The Board has no legal authority to issue bonded indebtedness or borrow funds. All funds
for school construction come from either the transfer of bond proceeds from our County
selling Capital Bonds or from State Aid through the Maryland Public School Construction
Program (PSCP). During FY 2013, the Board recorded PSCP aid of $4.3 million. These
funds were used predominantly to commence the long awaited Bennett Middle School
project. The Capital Projects (School Construction) Fund revenue exceeded expenditures by
only $249,050. The final year of the School Construction Savings Fund (a cooperative effort
with our County Government) has resulted in a transfer of $1.6 million from the General
Fund to the Capital Projects Fund. These funds have enabled the Board to leverage state
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dollars that would have otherwise been forfeited since our county government has not been
able to sell sufficient school construction bonds to match the available PSCP funds available.

Fiduciary Fund
The following funds are accounted for as Fiduciary Funds:
(1) Pension Trust Funds:

® Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County
covers all Board employees not eligible for the State Teachers Retirement or Pension
Systems. Total assets as of June 30, 2013 were approximately $19.2 million (see
notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements for more detail information).

® 401(a) Matching Plan is a self-directed defined contribution plan. All employees,
18 years and older, are eligible and Board contributions are based upon employees’
contributions to the Board’s 403(b) Tax Sheltered Annuity Program. Total assets as
of June 30, 2013 were $3.4 million (see notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements for
more detail information).

e Retiree Health Insurance Plan Trust (OPEB Trust) was established by the Board in
June 2006 in order to fund the health care costs of retirees. Total assets as of June
30, 2013 were approximately $11.7 million (see notes 7 and 10 to the financial
statements for more detail information).

(2) Private Purpose Trust Funds: Assets are held and managed by the Board as a result of
funds received from various sources for specific purposes such as student scholarships and
awards. Total assets equaled $176,522 as of June 30, 2013.

(3) Agency Funds: During FY 2013 the Board’s 24 schools collected revenues and incurred
expenditures for various student activities (see Table 6). The Board contracts with an
independent Certified Public Accountant to perform an audit of these agency funds on an
annual basis. Please refer to the separately issued audited financial statements for the School
Activities Fund for specific details and results of the audit.
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Table 6
SCHOOL ACTIVITIES FUND
$
Fiscal Year  Fiscal Year Increase %

FY 2013 FY 2012 (Decrease) Incr. (Decr.)
Additions $ 2475319 § 2,432,228 § 43,091 1.77%
Deductions 2,434,115 2,490,006 (55,891) -2.24%
Due to school activity groups - beginning 431,665 489,443 (57,778) -11.80%
Due to school activity groups - ending $ 472869 § 431665 § 41,204 .55%

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Original Budget Compared to Final Budget

The FY 2013 General Fund budget increased $6.7 million. This increase followed two (2)
straight years of budget decreases ($1.6 million in FY 2012 and $8.4 million in FY 2011).
The increase was in large part made possible by $5.3 million in additional state aid. Despite
the revenue increase, the Board was forced to eliminate an additional $2.5 million of budget
line items in order to offset on-going costs of doing business which exceeded $9.2 million.

The Board did not have to revise the General Fund budget at any time during the year
through categorical transfers, which would require County Council approval. The only
transfers approved involved object level transfers which only require Board of Education
approval. Major object level transfers included:

e $442.000 - to fund the purchase of five (5) Board owned school buses
e $188.796 - to fund Out-of-State tuition owed to the state of Delaware

e $101,300 - to fund legal fees as a result of increased legal costs associated with various issues

e § 93,000 - year-end transfers for technology equipment and infrastructure to address the new
Teacher/Principal online evaluation system and the new PARCC online student assessment
initiative

Final Budget Compared to Actual Results

Revenue estimates for budgetary purposes were very close to actual. The total variance was
only $141,344, or .08%, of budget.

28



THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Expenditure budget estimates exceeded actuals by $2.3 million, or 1.4%. This excess was
due in large part to actual salaries, wages and employee benefits under budget by $1.6
million and operational costs for plant and equipment less than budget by $.4 million.

Each year, estimates for salaries, wages and fringe benefits are based upon staff employed at
the time budgets are developed. The reality of budgeting for over 3,000 employees (2,400
salaried, 600 hourly) so far in advance of the actual expenditures is extremely difficult. This
is in great part due to a volume of turnover. For example, turnover amongst our
approximately 1,250 teacher positions occur over the summer and during the school year and
can result in as many as 100 new teacher hires. This can cause a significant budget variance,
which was the case in FY 2013. To help mitigate this situation, we have recently
implemented two new software modules for our Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system,
Position Control and Position Budgeting. We believe these new modules will assist us
greatly in providing better budget estimates in the future. The variance in the category of
operation of plant and equipment was a result of utility costs falling below estimates due to a
relatively mild winter.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

By the end of FY 2013, the District had invested approximately $311.1 million in a broad
range of capital assets, including land, school buildings, athletic facilities, furniture and
equipment. (More detailed information about capital assets can be found in Note 5 to the
financial statements.) Total depreciation expense for the year was $9.0 million.

Construction - Next Five Years

Annually, the Board of Education prepares and submits to the State Inter-Agency Committee
for School Construction and to the Wicomico County Executive a 5-Year Capital
Improvement Program (CIP). The Board’s FY 2014 CIP, submitted in October 2012,
requested $20.6 million from the county and $17.6 million from the state for FY 2014 capital
needs. The FY 2014 requests that were approved by the state and county are as follows:

¢ Bennett Middle replacement project - $13.5 million from the county and $10.3 million
from the state. Project started in April 2013 and is slated for completion in March
2016. Total project cost for the new facility is expected to be $71.3 million.

e Parkside High School renovation - $1.4 million from the county for A&E to
commence development of documents to perform limited renovation including HVAC
replacement and other mechanical plant. Total project cost is expected to be $45.7
million and be complete in 2018.
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Systemic Renovation Projects - $1.3 million from the state and $818,900 from the

county to fund various roofing, HVAC, and lighting projects on various schools.

West Salisbury Renovation Project - $200,000 from the county to fund A&E fees to
commence Education Specifications so as to seek Planning approval from the state.

Long-term Liabilities
At year-end, the District had $3.9 million for amounts due or payable after one year. This
amount consisted of the following:

$2.6 million of accrued compensated absences which is an obligation resulting
primarily from accrued annual leave which is due and payable to employees upon
termination.

$1.3 million payable on capital leases (see note 12 to the financial statements for
more details).

FACTORS BEARING ON THE DISTRICT’S FUTURE

(1) As reported last year, legislation that passed during 2012 involves the state’s

maintenance of effort law, SB 848 (with amendments, by SB 1301). The law
essentially requires a county governing body to set a tax rate that is at least the
maximum amount allowable under the county’s charter in order to fund MOE
requirements for both FY 2013 and FY 2014. As indicated last year, the Wicomico
County Council complied with this law and raised the property tax to the maximum
amount allowable under the charter. By doing so, they were able to re-base their
MOE calculation and avoid the MOE level stipulated in the law for FY 2013 which
was $50.1 million or an increase of almost $14 million over the FY 2012
appropriation. For FY 2014, our county council once again complied with the MOE
law and raised the property tax rate an additional $.0682 to the maximum amount
permitted by the charter. By doing this they had sufficient revenues to fund our
MOE level. In fact, the county funded $629,000 more than MOE for FY 2014. In
future years, the requirement to raise a county’s tax rate to at least the maximum
amount allowable under the county’s charter is no longer mandatory. Only time will
tell how much Education Funding our county council will supply when not forced, by
state law, to raise sufficient revenues to do so. The good news is that SB 848 does
impose a stiff penalty on the county for failure to meet MOE. In the past, such a
penalty was imposed on Boards of Education and consequently had little impact on
the County. However, SB 848 shifts the focus of the penalty to the county governing
authority. The penalty to be imposed represents the amount the county short funds
the MOE level, should they do so. The legislature authorized the Maryland
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Comptroller to withhold any shortfall in the MOE level from future income tax
revenues collected for the county and redirect those funds to the Board of Education.
Public schools in Maryland see this as a tremendous win, in terms of knowing they
can at least expect funding levels equal to MOE from their local governments.

During FY 2013, the Board instituted another voluntary retirement incentive option
(VRIO). The VRIO was established for the primary purpose of offering to
employees an incentive to notify us early of their intention to retire. Approximately
30 staff took advantage of the VRIO and retired effective June 30, 2013. This
enabled the Board to eliminate seven (7) full time positions through attrition, thereby
saving the Board $359,158 and helping to balance the FY 2014 Operating Budget.
VRIO also created ongoing salary savings of $646,037 in FY 2014 and beyond.

Effective June 5, 2007, the Wicomico County Council enacted Resolution No. 88-
2007. This resolution approved the establishment of the Board’s School Construction
Savings Plan. The plan established a base level unassigned fund balance of
$300,000. Any amount exceeding this base level, after completion of the Board’s
annual audit, would be transferred to the Board’s School Construction Savings Fund
(SCSF) as a means to accumulate funds to complete systemic renovation and major
maintenance projects not funded through the County’s Capital Improvement Plan
(CIP). During FY 2013, the Board transferred $1.6 million into the SCSF. This
transfer represents the final transfer to the SCSF since the County Council on June 7,
2011 passed resolution 71-2011, terminating the School Construction Savings Plan
effective on June 30, 2013.

With the passage of SB 1301 in a special legislative session during the summer of
2012, the state now requires Boards of Education to remit to the state set amounts for
FY 2013 through FY 2016 toward teacher pension costs:

FY13 - $2.2 million, FY14 - $2.6 million, FY15 - $3.5 million, FY16 - $4.1 million

The bill also requires local county governments to appropriate to local Boards of
Education, in addition to MOE, set amounts to assist in funding these new costs:

FY13 - $2.2 million, FY14 - $2.6 million, FY15 - $2.7 million, FY16 - $3.2 million

Since the county appropriations do not completely cover the costs in FY15 and
FY16, the legislature authorized school systems in FY 15 and FY16 to retain amounts
previously submitted to the Maryland State Retirement System to assist with
offsetting the shortfall. The amounts are projected to be $ .8 million in both fiscal
years. Commencing in FY 2017, Boards of Education will be required to pay the
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“normal cost” of retirement for all qualifying employees based upon current salaries.
Local county governments will be required to include in the minimum per pupil
MOE calculation for that year, the amount of the FY 2016 established pension cost
amount, which for Wicomico is $3.2 million.

(5) Future funding for education is dependent upon many variables. While overall, the
state of Maryland has shown some economic improvement, Wicomico County lags
behind. Two of the most visible economic indicators that would reveal growth are
flat in Wicomico - job growth and the housing market. Since we are farther
removed from the Baltimore/Washington/ Philadelphia corridor our county is not
seeing an influx of new business or the creation of any significant number of new
jobs. Consequently, our economic recovery lags behind the rest of the state.
Because of this projection of no-growth, we are hoping to at least see MOE levels of
county funding for the foreseeable future:

FY14 base county funding - $37.8 million appropriated

Projected MOE levels of funding - FY15 $38.3M, FY16 - $38.5M, FY17 - $41.9M

As for state education aid, we are projecting only modest growth of 2%, through

FY 17 based upon current economic conditions. Federal aid will most likely be
impacted by the Federal government’s sequestration. However, we have been told
not to expect reductions until FY'15, with anticipated reductions in Title I and Special
Education of 5%. Overall, we are projecting budget shortfalls in our General Fund
budget as follows:

FY15 - ($735,388), FY16 - ($1,747,958), FY17 - ($4,021,608)

These projected budget shortfalls do not include any projected salary increases for
staff. While such a budget plan is possible, it is not likely that the Board will be able
to negotiate no salary increases for three years in a row with the 3 bargaining units.
Therefore, our Board of Education will once again be faced with serious budget
reduction decisions if county appropriations do not exceed MOE and state aid doesn’t
exceed 2% respectively.

(6) Our lone proprietary fund accounts for our food service operation. It, likewise, is
projecting budget shortfalls for the foreseeable future. In FY14 the budget calls for
utilizing $375,000 of accumulated fund balance and in FY 15 projections indicate an
additional $567,000 will be needed to balance the budget. At that rate of utilization,
the fund balance is projected to be liquidated by FY 2016. In an attempt to avoid
this downward spiral, the food service operation is reviewing options for
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sustainability including meals-per-labor-hour statistics by school to determine
inefficiencies and hopefully identifying areas within which to cut labor costs. Also,
the expansion of the USDA dinner program is being contemplated; a program the
Board believes can benefit the food service’s bottom line.

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and creditors
with a general overview of the District’s finances and to demonstrate the District’s
accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need
additional financial information, contact the Finance office, Wicomico County Board of
Education, 101 Long Ave., Salisbury, Maryland 21802-1538.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2013

ASSETS
Cash
Investments - cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:
School districts and other
Accrued interest on investments
Due from other governmental agencies
Internal balances
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Capital assets:
Construction in progress
Land
Buildings and improvements
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable:
Retainage
Vendors
Payroll deductions and withholdings
Payable to external parties
Due to other governmental agencies
Accrued salaries
Unearned revenue
Short term portion of long term liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Capital lease payable
Long term liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Capital lease payable

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Rate stabilization reserve
Capital projects
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

Business-
Governmental Type
Activities Activities Total

$ 221,773 § 1,330 % 223,103
29,988,659 - 29,988,659
492.256 746 493,002
2,414 - 2.414
6,399,095 202,815 6,601,910
(1,337.914) 1,337,914 -
- 11,255 11,255

2,436,472 - 2,436,472
7,959,317 - 7,959,317
4,079,740 - 4,079,740
262,683,506 - 262,683,506
34,350,755 2,023,858 36,374,613
(94,607,916) (1,668,796) (96,276,712)
214,465,402 355,062 214,820,464
252,668,157 1,909,122 254,577,279
317,978 - 317,978
3,622,069 48,894 3,670,963
10,418,861 - 10,418,861
610,560 - 610,560
173,416 11,255 184,671
1,212,425 21,031 1,233,456
2,595,259 26,840 2,622,099
294,275 - 294,275
934,438 - 034,438
2,641,283 - 2,641,283
1,287,288 - 1,287,288
24,107,852 108,020 24,215,872
212,243,676 355,062 212,598,738
5,045,300 - 5,045,300
6,608,505 - 6,608,505
4,662,824 1,446,040 6,108,864

$ 228,560,305 % 1,801,102 § 230,361,407

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Program Revenues

Charges for Operating Capital
Services and Grants and Grants and
Expenses Sales Contributions Contributions
Governmental Activities

Current:
Administration $ 6,396,885 % 19,929 § 1,204,957 § “
Instructional services 127,631,747 227.821 16,743,347 6,888,005
Special education 24,512,359 - 13,256,070 -
Student personnel services 2,741,544 - 168,667 -
Health services 1,931,135 - 138,869 -
Student transportation 8,465,480 - 300,212 -
Operation of plant and equipment 13,361,681 41,736 1,773,778 -
Maintenance of plant 3,756,713 - 461,233 -
Community services 252,724 44,434 62,590 -
Interest expense 36,646 - - -
Total Governmental Activities 189,086,914 333,920 34,109,723 6,888,005

Business-Type Activities

Food Services 7.241,209 1.416,122 5,228,280 -
Total Business-Type Activities 7,241,209 1,416,122 5,228,280 -
Totals 5 196,328,123 § 1,750,042 $ 39,338,003 $ 6,888,005

General Revenues
Wicomico County appropriations
State of Maryland
Other revenue
Investment Earnings

Total General Revenues
Transfers

Change in Net Position

Net Position - beginning of year
Net Position - end of year

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Net (Expenses) Revenue
and changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
$  (5,171,999) § - 5 (5,171,999)
(103,772,574) - (103,772,574)
(11,256,289) - (11,256,289)
(2,572,877) - (2,572,877)
(1,792,266) (1,792,266)
(8,165,268) (8,165,268)
(11,546,167) - (11,546,167)
(3,295,480) - (3,295,480)
(145,700) - (145,700)
(36,646) = (36,646)
(147,755,266) - (147,755,266)
- (596,807) (596,807)
- (596,807) (596,807)
(147,755,266) (596,807) (148,352,073)
39,173,593 - 39,173,593
111,997,661 - 111,997,661
60,150 - 60,150
10,701 - 10,701
151,242,105 - 151,242,105
(675,000) 675,000 -
2,811,839 78,193 2,890,032
225,748,466 1,722,909 227,471,375
$ 228,560,305 % 1,801,102 § 230,361,407
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2013

Total
GENERAL SPECIAL CAPITAL Governmental
FUND REVENUE PROJECTS Funds
ASSETS
Cash $ 221,773 § - % - 5 221,773
Investments - cash equivalents 29,988,659 - - 29,988,659
Accounts receivable:
School districts and other 492,256 - - 492,256
Accrued interest on investments 2,414 - - 2,414
Due from other governmental agencies 87,339 2,739,960 3,571,796 6,399,095
Due from other funds - 416,693 5,487,212 5,903,905
TOTAL ASSETS $ 30,792,441 % 3,156,653 % 9,059,008 $ 43,008,102
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Accounts payable:
Retainage $ - % - % 317,978 % 317,978
Vendors 1,295,541 194,003 2,132,525 3,622,069
Payroll deductions and withholdings 10,418,861 - - 10,418,861
Due to other funds 7.852.,379 - - 7,852,379
Accrued salaries and other 1,027,741 184 684 - 1,212,425
Accrued compensated absences 294,275 - - 294 275
Deferred revenue 7,142 2,588,117 - 2,595,259
Due to other governmental agencies 23,039 150,377 2 173,416
TOTAL LIABILITIES 20,918,978 3,117,181 2,450,503 26,486,662
FUND BALANCES
Restricted for fund purposes - 39,472 6,608,505 6,647,977
Committed:
Healthcare rate stabilization reserve 3,751,594 - - 3,751,594
Assigned to:
Healthcare rate stabilization reserve 1,293,706 - = 1,293,706
Subsequent year expenditures 300,000 - “ 300,000
Other purposes (encumbrances) 4,228,163 - - 4,228,163
Unassigned 300,000 - - 300,000
Total fund balances 9,873,463 39,472 6,608,505 16.521.440

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES § 30,792,441 §$ 3,156,653 § 9,059,008 $ 43,008,102

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2013

Total Governmental Funds Balances $ 16,521,440

Amounts reported for governmental activities
in the statement of net position are different because:

Pre-payment of post-retirement employment benefits 2,436,472

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not

financial resources and therefore are not reported in the
governmental fund financial statements 214,465,402

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported in the funds

Accrued compensated absences 2,641,283
Capital lease payable 2,221,726
(4,863,009)
Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 228,560,305

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Total
GENERAL SPECIAL CAPITAL Governmental
FUND REVENUE PROJECTS Funds
REVENUES
Wicomico County appropriations
Operations $ 37,000,000 $ - % - $ 37,000,000
Local share of State pension 2,173,593 - - 2,173,593
Other local revenue 325,554 211,069 - 536,623
State of Maryland 118,903,368 959,923 4,340,212 124,203,503
State of Maryland retirement and pension contribution 10,331,627 - - 10,331,627
Federal through state = 15,467,667 - 15,467,667
Other sources 343,179 46,885 2,470,676 2,860,740
TOTAL REVENUES 169,077,321 16,685,544 6,810,888 192,573,753
EXPENDITURES
Current:
Administration 4,015,004 951,016 - 4,966,020
School management and support 11,486,015 133,637 - 11.619,652
Instructional salaries and wages 63,157.734 4,491,954 - 67.649,688
Textbooks and instructional supplies 2,721,598 685,692 - 3,407,290
Other instructional costs 1,803,858 1,715,200 - 3,519,058
Special education 14,295 444 3,324,414 - 17,619,858
Student personnel services 2,125,597 19,847 - 2,145 444
Health services 1,379,357 9.309 - 1,388,666
Student transportation 7.990,825 258,642 - 8,249 467
Operation of plant and equipment 9,695,910 861,865 - 10,557,775
Maintenance of plant 2,940,630 223,808 - 3,164,438
Fixed charges 30,938.445 4,340,157 - 35,278,602
Community services 178,327 50,804 - 229,131
Capital outlay 5,162,895 22.497 8,197,949 13,383,341
Debt service
Capital lease principal 1,343,707 - - 1,343,707
Capital lease interest 36,646 - - 36,646
State of Maryland share of retirement
and pension contribution 10,331,627 - - 10,331,627
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 169,603,619 17.088,842 8,197,949 194,890,410
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (526,298) (403,298) (1,387,061) (2,316,657)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from insurance settlement 1,455,335 - - 1,455,335
Capital lease proceeds 1,614,911 - - 1,614,911
Interfund transfers - special revenue (372,622) 372,622 - -
Interfund transfers - capital projects (1,636,111) - 1,636,111 -
Interfund transfers - food services (675,000) - - (675,000)
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 386,513 372,622 1,636,111 2,395,246
Net change in fund balances (139,785) (30,676) 249,050 78,589
Fund balances - beginning of year 10,013,248 70,148 6,359,455 16,442,851
Fund balances - end of year $ 9.873.463 § 39472 § 6,608,505 § 16,521,440

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Net change in fund balances-total Governmental Funds

Amounts reporied for governmental activities in the
statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those

assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation
expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays

exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Fixed asset additions
Current year depreciation
Total

Loss on disposal of assets

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities, do not
require the use of current financial resources and therefore
are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Increase in long-term accrued compensated absences
Decrease in pre-funded post-retirement benefits

Capital lease proceeds provide current financial resources to
governmental funds but increase long-term liabilities in the statement

of net position. Repayment of capital lease obligations is an expenditure
in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-

term liabilities in the statement of net position. In the current year, the
net effect of capital lease borrowings and repayments was:

Change in net position of Governmental Activities

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY
STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
June 30, 2013

Business-Type

Activities
Food
Services

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents b 1,330

Due from other funds 1,337,914

Due from other governments 202,815

Accounts receivable - other 746

Inventories 11,255

Total current assets 1,554,060

Capital assets, net 355,062

TOTAL ASSETS 1,909,122
LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 69,925

Due to other governmental agencies 11,255

Unearned revenue 26,840

Total current liabilities 108,020

TOTAL LIABILITIES 108,020
NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 355,062

Unrestricted 1,446,040

TOTAL NET POSITION 5 1,801,102

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Business-Type

Activities
Food
Services
OPERATING REVENUES
Food service sales $ 1,416,122
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages 2,309,707
Contracted services 55,880
Supplies and materials 3,781,428
Other charges 1,023,540
Depreciation 70,654
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 7,241,209
OPERATING LOSS (5,825,087)
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
State of Maryland:
Reimbursement of food costs 153,847
Federal through State:
Reimbursement of food costs 4,749 584
Donation of food commodities 324 849
TOTAL NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 5,228,280
Change in net position before contributions and transfers (596,807)
TRANSFERS IN 675,000
Change in net position 78,193
Net position - beginning of year 1,722,909
Net position - end of year $ 1,801,102

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

42




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2013

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS:

Cash received from user charges $ 1,304,446
Cash payments to employees for services, fringe benefits (2,611,673)
Cash payments for health and other insurances (724,254)
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (3,441,076)
Cash payments for facility use and maintenance (55,880)
Net cash used in operating activities (5,528,437
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Nonoperating grants received 4,903,431
Interfund transfers 675,000
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 5,578,431
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal payments on capital lease (35,723)
Purchase of equipment (14,271)
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (49,994)
Net change in cash ;
Cash and investments - beginning of year 1,330
Cash and investments - end of year $ 1,330
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used In Operating Activities:
Operating Loss $ (5.825,087)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss
to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation 70,654
Commodities used 324,849
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Inventories (9,791)
Receivables (111,676)
(Decrease) increase in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,361
Deferred revenue and due to other governments 10,253
Total adjustments 296,650
Net cash used in operating activities $  (5,528,437)
Noncash items:
Donation of food commodities $ 324,849

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
June 30, 2013

Pension AGENCY FUND
and Retiree Private School
Health Plan Purpose Activities
Trust Funds Trust Fund Fund
ASSETS
Cash $ 4779972 % - 8 39,079
Due from other funds - 172,762 437,798
Trust investments
Government bonds 2,514,048 - -
Commercial paper 155,503
Mortgage loans 556,718
Corporate bonds 8,164,398 -
Common stock 17,997,038 3,760 -
Other 131,924 - -
Total assets 34,299,601 176,522 476,877
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable - 907 4,008
Due to school
activity groups - - 472,869
Total liabilities - 907 476,877
NET POSITION
Held in Trust for:
Retirement and
other benefits 34,299,601 -
Scholarships, etc. - 175,615
Total net position $ 34,299,601 § 175,615 § -

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Pension Private Purpose
and Retiree Trust Fund -
Health Plan Scholarship
Trust Funds Memorials
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Donations $ - 8 53,839
Employer contributions 1,740,263 -
Plan member contributions 389,275 -
Total contributions 2,129,538 53,839
Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends 938,214 207
Increase in fair value of investments 2,243,434 451
Total investment earnings 3,181,648 058
Total additions 5,311,186 54,497
DEDUCTIONS
Scholarships, etc. - 44,009
Pension benefit payments 1,286,106 -
Administrative expenses 144,046 -
Total deductions 1,430,152 44,009
Change in net position 3,881,034 10,488
Net position - beginning of year 30,418,567 165,127
Net position - end of year $ 34,299,601 $ 175.615

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. Financial Reporting Entity

The Board of Education of Wicomico County (the “Board™) is empowered by Title 13A of the Code of
Maryland Regulations to fulfill the elementary and secondary educational needs of students in Wicomico
County, Maryland (the “County™).

The financial statements of the Board have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) as applied to local government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial principles.
Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, generally are
followed in both the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those
standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the GASB. Governments also have the option of
following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to
this same limitation. The Board has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance. The most
significant of the Board’s accounting policies are described below.

B. Basis of Presentation

The Board is the basic level of government which has financial accountability and control over all activities
related to public school education in Wicomico County, Maryland. The Board receives funding from local,
State and Federal government sources and must comply with the requirements of these funding source entities,

The Board is a component unit of Wicomico County, Maryland and is included in the County’s reporting entity.
This conclusion has been reached based on the following criteria: 1) the County is responsible for approving the
Board’s budget and establishing spending limitations and 2) the Board cannot issue bonded debt, but the County
can and does issue bonds to finance school system operations. In addition, there are no component units which
are included in the Board's reporting entity.

The Board’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of net
position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more detailed level of
financial information.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the Board as a whole.
These statements include the financial activities of the Board. The statements distinguish between those
activities of the Board that are governmental and those that are considered business-type activities. Activities
between funds that are representative of lending or borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal
year are referred to as due to/from other funds and are eliminated from the statements.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type activities of
the Board at year-end, excluding fiduciary funds. The statement of activities presents a comparison between
direct expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the Board’s governmental activities and
for business-type activities of the Board. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a
service, program or department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues
include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, grants and contributions
that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program and interest earned
on grants that is required to be used to support a particular program. Revenues which are not classified as
program revenues are presented as general revenues of the Board, with certain limited exceptions. The
comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each business segment or
governmental function is self-financing or draws from general revenues of the Board,
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
B. Basis of Presentation (continued)
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year, the Board segregates transactions related to certain Board functions or activities in separate
funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial statements are
designed to present financial information of the Board at a more detailed level. The focus of governmental and
enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is presented in a separate column.

C. Fund Accounting

The Board uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as a fiscal and
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. There are three categories of funds: governmental,
proprietary and fiduciary.

GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed. Governmental
fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial resources. Expendable assets are
assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purpose for which they may or must be used.
Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid. The difference between governmental
fund assets and liabilities is reported as fund balance. The following are the Board’s major governmental funds:

General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Board. All general revenues and other
receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to another fund and general operating
expenditures are accounted for in this fund.

Special Revenue Fund - These funds are used to account for revenue resources that are restricted or committed
to specified purposes other than debt service and capital projects, such as federal, state, and local grants. The
Print Shop fund is also included as a special revenue fund.

Capital Projects Fund - Capital Projects Funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities. The Board administers the construction and repair of
public schools and uses the School Construction Fund to record the revenues from the County and other
governmental units and the expenditures in connection therewith.

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Proprietary funds focus on the determination of changes in net position, financial position and cash flows and
are classified as enterprise.

Enterprise funds — Enterprise funds may be used to account for any activity for which a fee is charged to
external users for goods or services. The Board’s major enterprise funds are:

Food service fund - This fund accounts for the financial transactions related to the food service
operations of the Board.

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

Agency Fund - The funds of the School Activities Fund are administered by the individual schools in a
fiduciary capacity.

Private Purpose Trust Fund - These funds are held by the Board for scholarships and other student awards.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
C. Fund Accounting (continued)

Pension Trust Fund - The Board is the trustee for the assets held in a retirement plan for certain employees of
the Board of Education and the assets held in the 401(a) matching plan.

Retiree Health Plan (OPEB) Trust Fund - The Board is the trustee for the assets held in an other post
employment benefit plan for health insurance for certain employees of the Board of Education.

D. Measurement Focus

Government-wide financial statements - The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the
economic resources measurement focus. All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of the Board are
included on the statement of net position.

Fund financial statements — All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally are
included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances reports on
the sources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) of
current financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of the
government-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore include a
reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-wide statements
and the statements for government funds.

Like the government-wide statements, all proprietary funds and fiduciary funds are accounted for on a flow of
economic resources measurement focus. All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds
are included on the statement of net position. The statement of changes in fund net position presents increases
(i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total position. The statement of cash flows provides
information about how the Board finances and meets the cash flow needs of its proprietary activities.

E. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on the
financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Proprietary and fiduciary funds also use the
accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and the modified accrual basis of accounting arise in the
recognition of revenue, the recording of deferred revenue, and in the presentation of expenses versus
expenditures.

Revenues-Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions - Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which
each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes
place. On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in which the resources are
measurable and become available. Available means that the resources will be collected within the current fiscal
year or are expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal
year. For this purpose, the Board considers revenues to be available if they are collected within sixty days of
the end of the current fiscal year.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the Board receives value without directly giving equal value in return,
include primarily grants. Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility
requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year
when the resources are required to be used or the year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in
which the Board must provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose, and expenditure requirements,
in which the resources are provided to the Board on a reimbursable basis. On a modified accrual basis, revenue
from nonexchange transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
E. Basis of Accounting (continued)

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and
available at year end: interest, tuition, grants, fees and rentals,

Deferred revenue — Deferred revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria have
been satisfied.

Grants received before the eligibility requirements are met are also recorded as deferred revenue.

On governmental fund financial statements, receivables that will not be collected within the available period
have also been reported as deferred revenue.

Expenses/Expenditures - On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are
incurred. The fair value of donated commodities used during the year is reported in the operating statement as
an expense with a like amount reported as donated commodities revenue. Unused donated commodities are
reported as deferred revenue.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources
(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in which
the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and amortization,
are not recognized in governmental funds.

F. Budgetary Data

The budget is prepared on the budgetary basis of accounting. The budget establishes a limit on the amounts that
the Board may appropriate and sets annual limits as to the amount of expenditures at a level of control selected
by the Board. The legal level of control has been established by the Board at the category level within each
fund.

The budget may be amended during the year if projected increases or decreases in revenue are identified. The
amounts reported as the original budgeted amounts in the budgetary statements reflect the amounts when the
original budget was adopted. The amounts reported in the final budgeted amounts reflect amendments approved
by the County government during the year between categories and those approved by the Board within
categories.

G. Inventory and Prepaid Items

On government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements of proprietary funds, inventories are
presented at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis and are expensed when used. Food
received from the USDA is included at values stated by the USDA but is offset by a deferred credit until
consumed.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

H. Capital Assets

General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in proprietary funds. These
assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds. These assets are reported in the
governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported in the fund
financial statements. Capital assets utilized by the proprietary funds are reported both in the business-type
activities column of the government-wide statement of net position and in the respective funds.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
H. Capital Assets (continued)

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical costs) and updated for additions and retirements
during the year. Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the date received. The
Board maintains a capitalization threshold of one thousand dollars. The Board does not possess any
infrastructure. Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add value
to the asset or materially extend an asset’s life are not.

All reported capital assets except land, land improvements and construction in progress are depreciated.
Improvements are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Description Estimated Lives
Buildings and Improvements 20 - 50 years
Furniture and Equipment 5 = 15 years
Vehicles 8 years

I. Compensated Absences
ACCRUED LEAVE

Compensated absences are reported as accrued in the government wide financial statements. Governmental
tunds report only matured compensated absences payable to currently terminating employees. Annual leave for
eligible employees is accrued on a monthly basis and range from 10 to 25 days depending on the employee’s
years of service, Additionally, upon retirement, employees of the Board receive payment for unused sick leave
at varying rates for the number of unused days exceeding 150 or 200 days based on the employees position and
tenure.

J. Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide statements, and
all payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations payable from proprietary funds are reported on the
proprietary fund financial statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely manner
and in full from current financial resources, are reported as obligations of the funds. However, claims and
judgments and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in the
fund financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the current year.

K. Net Position

During fiscal year 2013, the Board implemented the Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s Statement No.
63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position.
This statement provides a standardized presentation for deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources and their effect on a government’s net position. Net position represents the difference between assets
plus deferred inflows of resources and liabilities plus deferred outflows of resources. Net investment in capital
assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any
borrowings used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as
restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the
Board or through external restrictions imposed by grantors, creditors or laws or regulations of other
governments.

The Board applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted
and unrestricted net positions are available.

50



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
L. Fund Balance

During fiscal year 2010, the Board implemented the Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s Statement No.
54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. Under this standard, fund balance is
reported as nonspendable (i.e. inventory or long term receivables), restricted (by external parties or legislation),
committed (by the highest level of authority of the government), assigned (i.e. residual amounts in other funds)
and unassigned. Nonspendable fund balance cannot be spent because of its form. Restricted fund balance has
limitations imposed by creditors, grantors, or contributors or by enabling legislation or constitutional provisions.
Committed fund balance is a limitation imposed by the Board (the highest level of authority). Such limitations
could only be imposed with formal action of the Board of Education in the form of a vote at a regular or special
Board meeting that either establishes, modifies or rescinds the limitation imposed. Assigned fund balance is a
limitation imposed by a designee of the Board in accordance with Board of Education policy. Constraints
imposed on the use of assigned amounts do not rise to the level required to be classified as restricted or
committed. Unassigned fund balance in the General Fund is the net resources in excess of what can be properly
classified in one of the above four categories. Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the
government-wide statements. Furthermore, committed fund balances are reduced first, followed by assigned
amounts, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any
of those unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

The Board’s policy for assigned and unassigned fund balance is driven by legislation at the state and local
government level. Fund balance assigned to subsequent years expenditures is governed by current state law
that dictates that the unassigned fund balance from the previous year must be added to other estimated receipts
to create the source of current expense revenues for the following budget year. For example, fiscal year 2013
unassigned fund balance becomes assigned fund balance for fiscal year 2015. Enacted by Resolution No. 88-
2007, the Wicomico County Council approved the establishment of the Board’s School Construction Savings
Plan. FY 2013 represents the final year of this legislation, since the county council voted to terminate this
arrangement in FY 2013. The plan established a base level unassigned fund balance of $300,000 for every
fiscal year. Any amount exceeding this base level, after completion of the Board’s annual audit, would be
transferred to the Capital Projects fund into what is known as the Board’s School Construction Savings Fund
(SCSF). The purpose of the SCSF was to accumulate funds to complete systemic renovation and major
maintenance projects not funded through the County’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP),

M. Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the proprietary
funds. For the Board, these revenues are sales for food service. Operating expenses are necessary costs
incurred to provide the good or service that is the primary activity of the fund. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this criteria are reported as nonoperating.

N. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

0. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Board’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments
with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Cash in the General Fund and

Food Service Fund is pooled into one account in order to maximize investment opportunities. Investments are
stated at fair value.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
P. Interfund Receivables and Payables and Transfers

Activities between funds that are representative of lending or borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of
the fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds.” Transfers are fund balance amounts reserved
and/or designated in the prior year that received County approval to be spent on capital projects.

Q. Encumbrance Accounting

Encumbrances for goods or purchased services are documented by purchase orders or contracts. Encumbrances
are reported as assigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements. Encumbrances outstanding
at June 30, 2013 that were provided for in the current year's budget for the budgetary basis of accounting but

will be accounted for under generally accepted accounting principles in the subsequent year totaled $4,228,163.

Note 2. Cash and Investments
Deposits and Investments Other Than Pension Funds:

The Board is authorized to invest monies for which it has custody or control. The type of investments are in
accordance with Section 6-222 of the Maryland State Finance and Procurement Article.

The Board’s investment policy for its non-pension funds authorizes its comptroller to invest money in any of the
following types of investments:

U.S. Treasury Obligations

Local Government Investment Pool
Repurchase Agreements
Collateralized Certificates of Deposit

=

a0 o

The policy requires that the investments be on a short-term (less than one year) basis to reduce interest rate risk
and establishes maximum portfolio percentages for investments as follows:

Maximum Percent

Diversification by Instrument of Portfolio

U.S. Treasury Obligations 100%

Local Government Investment Pool 100%

Repurchase Agreements 30%
(Master Repurchase Agreements Required)

Collateralized Certficates of Deposit 10%

(Only Maryland Commercial Banks)

The policy requires collateralization for certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements. Such collateral must
be at least 102% of market value of principal and accrued interest. The Annotated Code of Maryland (Article
95, Section 22) requires that deposits with financial institutions by local boards of education be fully
collateralized. The Board’s policy requires collateral to be held by a custodian in accordance with Section 6-
209(c) of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland and acceptable
collateral as specified under Section 6-202 of the same document,

These collateralization requirements are established to reduce custodial risk which is the risk that in the event of
a bank failure, the Board's deposits may not be returned to it.
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Note 2, Cash and Investments (continued)

At June 30, 2013, the Board’s non-pension funds were invested as follows:

Carrying Bank
Value Balance
Cash b 223,103 § (1,240,686)

Investments - cash equivalents 29,988,659 33,238,659

At June 30, 2013, the Board’s bank balance was in a $1,240,686 deficit position (pending a June 28, 2013
deposit in transit of $3,250,000) with a carrying value of $223,103. The June 30, 2013 deficit balance required
no insurance or collateralization. The Board is party to a security and custodial agreement with its bank

wherein deposits exceeding the amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) are

collateralized by pledged securities held in the Board’s name at The Bank of New York Mellon.

The Board invests in the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool (MLGIP) which was created with the

passage of Article 94 22G of the Annotated Code of Maryland. The MLGIP is managed by PNC Safe Deposit
and Trust Company which is under administrative control of the State Treasurer. A MLGIP Advisory
Committee of current participants has been formed to review the activities of the Fund on a quarterly basis and

provide suggestions to enhance the pool. The MLGIP is rated AAAm by Standard and Poor’s.

The fair value of the pool is the same as the value of the pool shares. Investments are recorded at cost, which
approximates market value. Investments in MLGIP totaled $29,988,659 at June 30, 2013 with $5,045,300

committed/assigned for health insurance rate stabilization.

Pension and Other Trust Fund Investments:

The Investment policy of the Board’s Retirement Plan Trust requires that the pension funds be managed as a
balanced account with approximately a 60% equity, 40% government and corporate bond mix. Cash or cash
equivalents are to be less than 3% on a long-term basis. The policy also has certain restrictions on types and

amounts of investments that may be included in the portfolio, e.g. foreign securities, real estate, industry

groups, loans, controlling interests.

The Board’s pension investments are held by State Street, Aetna Insurance Company and Janus in the Board’s
name. The Board’s Retiree Health Plan Trust investments are held at State Street in the Board’s name.

Pension and other trust funds are invested as follows:

Pension Trust 401(a) GASB 45
State Street AETNA Janus State Street Total

Cash and equivalents $ 2417453 § 77,187 § 135,277 § 2,150,055 $ 4,779,972
Government bonds 1,041,223 115,780 335,950 1,021,095 2,514,048
Commercial paper (less than 1 year) - 155,503 - - 155,503
Mortgage loans - 212,263 344 455 - 556,718
Corporate bonds 3,857,917 1,524,438 671,191 2,110,852 8,164,398
Common stock 9,759,160 - 1,781,323 6,456,555 17,997,038
Other - - 131,924 131,924

Total $ 17,075,753 % 2,085,171 § 3,400,120 $ 11,738,557 § 34,299,601
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Note 2, Cash and Investments (continued)
Corporate bonds held at June 30, 2013 are rated by Standard & Poor’s as follows:

Percent of Corporate Bond Portfolio

Pension Trust 401(a) GASB 45

Rating State Street AETNA Janus State Street
AAA 23.94%

AA+ 3.69% 3.80%
AA 14.92% 21.88% 16.45%
AA- 8.79% 9.31%
A+ 17.69% 18.18% 17.22%

A 35.57% 19.32% 8.95% 39.82%
A- 13.22% 21.59% 9.79%

BBB+ 0.95% 23.86% 0.75%
BBB 5.17% 27.99% 2.86%
BB 11.73%

B 1.31%
Not Rated 17.05% 4.20%

PENSION TRUST:
State Street:
Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2013 are as follows:

Par Value Description Coupon Rate Due
$150,000 Anheuser-Busch 4.13% 01/15/15
$70,000 Baker Hughes Inc. 7.50% 11/15/18
$70,000 Becton Dickinson 1.75% 11/08/16
$50,000 Berkshire Hathaway 3.20% 02/11/15
$80,000 Berkshire Hathaway 1.60% 05/15/17
$20,000 Berkshire Hathaway 5.00% 08/15/13
$75.000 Berkshire Hathaway 4.63% 10/15/13
$135,000 BHP Billiton Ltd. 5.50% 04/01/14
$85,000 BP Capital Markets 3.13% 10/01/15
$75,000 Caterpillar Inc. 7.00% 12/15/13
$45,000 Cisco Systems Inc. 5.50% 02/22/16
$95,000 Coca-Cola Co. 1.50% 11/15/15
$95,000 Colgate-Palmolive 3.15% 08/05/15
$23,000 ConocoPhillips Corp. 4.75% 02/01/14
$45,000 ConocoPhillips Corp. 5.20% 05/15/18
$170,000 Costco Wholesale Corp., 1.13% 12/15/17
$25,000 Deere & Co. 8.50% 01/09/22
$160,000 Deere Capital Corp. 2.00% 01/13/17
$11,000 Dupont EI De Nemours 5.88% 01/15/14
$45,000 Dupont EI De Nemours 6.00% 07/15/18
$125,000 General Electric Co. 5.25% 12/06/17
$125,000 GTE Corp 6.84% 04/15/18
$35,000 Hewlett-Packard Co. 6.13% 03/01/14
$70,000 Intel Corp. 1.95% 10/01/16
$120,000 IBM Corp. 5.70% 09/14/17
$70,000 JPMorgan Chase & Co. 4.65% 06/01/14
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (continued)

PENSION TRUST (continued):
State Street (continued):

Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2013 are as follows (continued):

Par Value Description Coupon Rate Due

$100,000 Medtronic Inc. 4.75% 09/15/15

$60,000 Nucor Corp, 5.75% 12/01/17

$170,000 Occidental Petroleum 1.75% 02/15/17

$150,000 PepsiCo Inc. 7.90% 11/01/18

$130,000 Pfizer Inc. 5.35% 03/15/15

$30,000 Pharmacia Corp. 8.70% 10/15/21

$135,000 Pitney Bowes Inc. 4.75% 05/15/18

$70,000 PNC Funding Corp. 3.63% 02/08/15

$77.000 Prudential Financial Inc. 4.50% 07/15/13

$80,000 Schering-Plough Corp. 5.30% 12/01/13

$80,000 Shell Int'l Finance 4.00% 03/21/14

$91,000 Tele-Communications Inc. 7.88% 08/01/13

$85,000 Texas Instruments Inc. 2.38% 05/16/16

$95,000 The Walt Disney Company 1.35% 08/16/16

$45,000 United Parcel Service 5.50% 01/15/18

$50,000 United Technologies Corp. 5.38% 12/15/17

$50,000 Washington Post Co. 7.25% 02/01/19

AETNA:
Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2013 are as follows:

Percent of

Holdings

Goldman Sachs Group Inc. 23.86%

Rio Tinto Limited 21.59%

Anheuser-Busch 19.32%

Province of Quebec 18.18%

Republic of Italy 17.05%

401(a):
Janus:
Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2013 are as follows:

Percent of

Holdings

Janus Balanced Fund T (JABAX) 100.00%

Average duration 4.30 years
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Note 2, Cash and Investments (continued)

GASB 45:
State Street:
Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2013 are as follows:

Par Value Description Coupon Rate Due
$100,000 Anheuser-Busch 4.13% 01/15/15
$20,000 Baker Hughes Inc. 7.50% 11/15/18
$45,000 Becton Dickinson 1.75% 11/08/16
$40,000 Berkshire Hathaway 3.20% 02/11/15
$55,000 Berkshire Hathaway 1.60% 05/15/17
$20,000 Berkshire Hathaway Inc. 4.63% 10/15/13
$30,000 Berkshire Hathaway Inc. 5.00% 08/15/13
$50,000 BHP Billiton Ltd. 5.50% 04/01/14
$60,000 BP Capital Markets 3.13% 10/01/15
$40,000 Caterpillar Inc. 7.00% 12/15/13
$15,000 Cisco Systems Inc. 5.50% 02/22/16
$60,000 Coca-Cola Co. 1.50% 11/15/15
$60,000 Colgate-Palmolive 3.15% 08/05/15
$15,000 Conoco Phillips Corp. 5.20% 05/15/18
$110,000 Costco Wholesale Corp. 1.13% 12/15/17
$125,000 Deere Capital Corp. 2.00% 01/13/17
$15,000 Dupont EI De Nemours 6.00% 07/15/18
$4,000 Dupont EI De Nemours 5.88% 01/15/14
$70,000 General Electric Co. 5.25% 12/06/17
$55,000 GlaxoSmithKline PLC 4.38% 04/15/14
$50,000 GTE Corp. 6.84% 04/15/18
$15,000 Hewlett-Packard Co. 6.13% 03/01/14
$60,000 IBM Corp. 5.70% 09/14/17
$45,000 Intel Corp. 1.95% 10/01/16
$60,000 JPMorgan Chase & Co. 4.65% 06/01/14
$85,000 JPMorgan Chase Bank NA 5.75% 06/13/16
$20,000 Nucor Corp. 5.75% 12/01/17
$110,000 Occidental Petroleum 1.75% 02/15/17
$80,000 PepsiCo Inc. 7.90% 11/01/18
$110,000 Pfizer Inc. 5.35% 03/15/15
$35,000 Pitney Bowes Inc. 4.75% 05/15/18
$40,000 PNC Funding Corp. 3.63% 02/08/15
$15,000 Prudential Financial Inc. 4.50% 07/15/13
$75,000 Shell Int'l Finance 4.00% 03/21/14
$60,000 Texas Instruments Inc, 2.38% 05/16/16
$60,000 The Walt Disney Company 1.35% 08/16/16
$15,000 United Parcel Service 5.50% 01/15/18
$15,000 United Technologies Corp. 5.38% 12/15/17
$20,000 Washington Post Co. 7.25% 02/01/19
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Note 3. Interfund Receivables and Payables
At June 30, 2013, the interfund account balances are as follows:

Due From Due To
Other Funds  Other Funds

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES:
General Fund

Due to Food Service Fund b - $ 1,337.914

Due to Special Revenue Fund - 416,693

Due to Capital Projects Fund - 5,487,212

Due to School Activities Fund - 437,798

Due to Trust Fund E 172,762
Special Revenue Fund

Due from General Fund 416,693 -
Capital Projects Fund

Due from General Fund 5,487,212 -

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Enterprise Fund

Due from General Fund 1,337,914 -
FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

Due from General Fund 610,560 -
TOTAL ALL FUNDS $ 7,852,379 § 7,852,379

Due to/from other funds represent advances of cash for operating needs. Transfers of $675,000 from the
General Fund to the Food Services Fund are to supplement wages and benefits, transfers of $372,622 from the
General Fund to the Special Revenue Fund are for internal services provided, and transfers of $1,636,111 from
the General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund are in accordance with the school construction savings plan
established by resolution between the Board and Wicomico County, Maryland.

Note 4. Due to/from Other Governmental Agencies

Due to/from other governmental agencies is as follows:

BUSINESS-

TYPE
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES

General Special Capital Food

Fund Revenue Projects Total Services

Due from Federal $ - % 2,534,649 § - % 2,534,649 $§ 183,767
Due from State 87,339 197,452 3,472,272 3,757,063 19,048
Due from local and other - 7,859 99 524 107,383 -

Total due from other
governmental agencies $ 87,339 $ 2,739,960 $ 3,571,796 $ 6,399,095 §$ 202,815

Due to Federal b - % 108,953 § - % 108953 % 11,255
Due to State 23,039 40,338 - 63,377 -
Due to local and other - 1,086 - 1,086 -
Total due to other
governmental agencies §$ 23,039 § 150,377 § - $ 173,416 § 11,255
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Note 5. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows:
Balance Balance
June 30, 2012 Additions Deductions Transfers June 30, 2013
Governmental Activities
Capital Assets, not being depreciated
Land $ 4,079,740 §$ - - 3 - 5 4,079,740
Construction in progress 3,755,596 7,970,047 - (3,766,326) 7,959,317
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 7,835,336 7,970,047 - (3,766,326) 12,039,057
Capital assets, being depreciated
Buildings and improvements 258,819,058 08,122 - 3,766,326 262,683,506
Furniture and equipment 29,153,513 3,902,538 (167,983) - 32,888,068
Vehicles 1,436,609 120,502 (94,424) - 1,462,687
Total capital assets, being depreciated 289,409,180 4,121,162 (262,407) 3,766,326 297,034,261
Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements (65,253,816)  (5.,952,087) - - (71,205,903)
Furniture and equipment (19,582,936) (2,858,709) 162,034 . (22,279,611)
Vehicles (1,099,181) (117,645) 94,424 - (1,122,402)
Total accumulated depreciation (85,935,933) (8,928,441) 256,458 - (94,607,916)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 203,473,247 (4,807,279) (5.949) 3,766,326 202,426,345
Governmental activities capital assets, net $211,308,583 § 3,162,768 § (5,949) % - $214,465,402
Business-type activities
Equipment $ 2,018,308 $ 14,271 (8,721) $ - § 2,023,858
Accumulated depreciation (1,606,863) (70,654) 8,721 - (1,668,796)
Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 411,445 $  (56,383) $ - $ - 3 355,062
Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:
Administration $§ 153,351
Instructional services 8,080,133
Special Education 48,359
Student Personnel Services 1,154
Health Services 6,291
Student transportation 33,006
Operation of plant and equipment 571,369
Maintenance of plant 31,802
Community Services 2,976
Total governmental depreciation expense 8,928,441
Depreciation expense was charged to business-type functions as follows:
Food service 70,654
Total business-type depreciation expense 70,654
Total depreciation expense $ 8,999,005
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Note 6. Health Insurance Reserves

The Board entered into a public entities health care consortium with the City of Salisbury (COS) and Wicomico
County Council through a memorandum of understanding during fiscal year 2002. The purpose of this
consortium is to reduce administrative expenses. Each entity has its premium rates adjusted based on its
experience and benefits. Beginning in July 2002, each entity agreed to fund a rate stabilization reserve equal to
10% of average annual premiums. The agreement was originally effective through the period ended August 31,
2004 and is currently extended on an annual basis. Effective September 2011, each entity agreed to increase the
rate stabilization reserve to 14% of average annual premiums. The Board determines how to use the amount of
reserve which exceeds 14% of average annual premiums. Each year the health care provider will produce an
annual settlement for all entities. If there is an experience loss, funding will come from the entities based on
their individual experience. Settlement among the group will occur within four months after August 31" each
year.

For the year ended June 30, 2013, the health insurance reserve had the following activity:

Balance at July 1, 2012 $ 5,288,561
Subsidy for rate increase (1,351,891)
Positive settlement - 2012 and COS repayments 1,455,335
Interest earned 5,597
Consulting and other expenditures (22,302)
Wellness program funding (30,000)
Other - transfer adjustment (300,000)

Balance at June 30, 2013 $ 5,045,300

The consortium’s contract with its health insurance carrier requires that actual incurred claims and expenses be
compared to actual premiums paid to determine whether a deposit premium deficit has been incurred each year.
Under the contract, the health insurance carrier can only require payment against the deficit of up to 7% of the
actual monthly premiums paid in the current fiscal year. The health insurance contract is based on a fiscal year
of September 1" through August 31", For the period ended August 31, 2012, the Board’s share of the
consortium’s settlement was a surplus of $1,187,096. Additionally, the City of Salisbury repaid $268,239 to
the Board for previous deficits (experienced losses) of the City, owed to and shared by the Board and County
Council. These amounts were included as other financing sources during the year ended June 30, 2013.

Note 7. Post-Retirement Health Care Benefits

During the year ended June 30, 2007, the Board changed its method of accounting for post-employment benefits
other than pensions by adopting Statement of Governmental Accounting Standards (GASB) Statement No. 45,
Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions.

Beginning in 2010, the Board funded 70% of the individual health care insurance costs for retirees who were
qualified to retire on or after July 17, 2007 based on the rules of their respective pension; and who had
accumulated at least 10 years of service with the Board prior to their retirement. The Board previously funded
55% of the individual health care insurance costs for eligible retirees who had accumulated at least 15 years of
service with the Board prior to retirement (before July 17, 2007). Approximately 690 retirees who have worked
for at least five years are eligible to participate in the post-retirement benefit program.
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Note 7. Post-Retirement Health Care Benefits (continued)
Plan Description

During the year ended June 30, 2007, Wicomico County and the Board of Education jointly set up the ‘Retiree
Health Insurance Plan Trust of the Board of Education of Wicomico County and Wicomico County’ (“the
trust”). A Board of Trustees (“the Board™) oversees the trust. Effective June 29, 2009, the City of Salisbury
was approved to join the trust. Separate financial statements for the trust are not issued.

The Plan is an agent multiple-employer plan with combined administrative functions for efficiency and each
agent employer remains responsible for financing benefits of its own individual plan. Each agent employer also
remains individually responsible for its own separate actuarial valuations, and expenses and obligations are
measured like those of sole employers. The assets of the three entities are segregated within the trust. The plan
provides medical, prescription, dental, and vision benefits to eligible retirees and their spouses.

Funding Policy

The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go financing requirements with an additional amount
to pre-fund benefits as determined annually. For the current fiscal year, the Board contributed $3.98 million,
including approximately $2.72 million for current claim costs (approximately 70% of total premiums); an
additional $1.05 million to pre-fund benefits and an estimated retiree subsidy of $216,000. Plan members
receiving benefits contributed approximately 30% of total premiums, through their required contributions of
$190 per month for retirees-only coverage (if under 65), $134 per month for retirees-only coverage (if 65 or
older) and $1,022 for retiree and spouse coverage. These monthly premium costs are for PPO coverage with
Dental and Vision for those retirees who had more than 10 years of service with the Board.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation

The Board's annual other post-retirement benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual
required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the
parameters of GASB Statement 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is
projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over
a period not to exceed 30 years.

The following table shows the components of the Board’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount actually
contributed to the plan, and changes in the Board’s net OPEB obligation.

Annual required contribution $ 4,129,061
Interest on net OPEB obligation (184,748)
Adjustment to annual required contribution 198,700

Annual OPEB cost (expense) 4,143,013
Contributions made:

Premium equivalency & retiree subsidy payments from General Fund (2,931,981)

Prefunding contribution (1,052,019)

Total contributions made (3,984,000)
Net OPEB obligation (asset) 159,013

Net OPEB obligation (asset) - beginning of year (2,463,304)
Net OPEB obligation (asset) - end of year $ (2,304,291)
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Note 7. Post-Retirement Health Care Benefits (continued)
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation (continued)

The Board’s annual OPEB cost, annual contribution, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the
Plan, and the net OPEB obligation (asset) were as follows:

Percentage
of Annual Net OPEB
Year Ended  Annual OPEB Annual OPEB Cost Obligation
June 30, Cost Contribution Contributed (Asset)
2011 $ 3,592,074 $ 4,354,000 121.21% $ (2,112,026)
2012 3,927,822 4,279,100 108.94 % (2,463,304)
2013 4,143,013 3,984,000 96.16% (2,304,291)

Payments for the net OPEB obligation have typically been liquidated in the General Fund in prior years.
Funding Status and Funding Progress

As of July 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 18.0% funded. The actuarial accrued
liability for benefits was $53,619,644 and the actuarial value of assets was $9,671,300 resulting in an unfunded
actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $43,948.344. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees
covered by the plan) was $103,261,000 and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 42.6%.

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the
plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding
progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements,
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing
over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits,

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood
by the employer and the plan members) and include the type of benefits provided at the time of each valuation
and the historical pattern of sharing the benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point.

The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-
term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long term
perspective of the calculations.

In the July 2012 actuarial valuation study, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was used. The
actuarial assumptions included a 7.5% investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), which is a
blended rate of the expected long-term investment returns on plan assets and on the employer’s own investments
calculated based on the funded level of the plan assets at the valuation date, and an annual healthcare cost trend
rate of 8% initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5% after three years. Implicit in the
investment return, salary scale and trend rate assumption is an underlying general rate of inflation assumption of
2.5%. The actuarial value of assets was determined using a standard balanced portfolio expectation for
retirement plan asset returns. The UAAL is being amortized as a level percentage of payroll on an open basis.
The remaining amortization period at July 1, 2012 was 30 years.
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Note 8. Risk Management

The Board is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Board has joined the Maryland
Association of Boards of Education Workers™ Compensation Group Insurance Fund (the “Fund™), a public entity
risk pool currently providing workers compensation coverage for participating boards of education in the State
of Maryland. The Board pays an annual premium to the Fund each year which is calculated based on projected
payroll, The agreement for the Fund provides that it will be self-sustaining though member premiums and will
reinsure through commercial companies for claims which exceed coverage limits as specified in the agreement.
Should the Fund encounter deficits in the workers compensation claims fund, this deficit may be made up from
additional assessments of boards participating in the fund. The Board also joined the Maryland Association of
Board of Education’s Group Insurance Pool (the Pool) on July 1, 2000. The Pool is a public entity risk pool
providing property and casualty insurance coverage for its participating members, who are also boards of
education in the State of Maryland. The Board pays an annual premium to the Pool, based on student
enrollment, vehicle inventory, insurable value of board property and insurance claims experience from previous
years. The agreement for the Pool provides that it will be self sustaining through member premiums and will
reinsure through commercial companies for claims that exceed coverage limits for legal liability, property, and
crime exposures specified in the agreement. Should the Pool encounter deficits in either the property or casualty
fund, this deficit may be made up from additional agsessments of boards participating in Pool. The Board
continues to carry commercial insurance for other risks, including pollution liability, retirement plan fiduciary
liability, employee health and life insurance. Settled claims have not exceeded insurance coverage for each of
the past three fiscal years, and there have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior
year,

Note 9. Pension Plans
Substantially all of the Board’s employees are covered by one of three pension plans.
Teachers Retirement System and the Teachers Pension System

General Plan Policies

Teachers and related occupations are covered by the Teachers Retirement System or the Teachers Pension
System of the State of Maryland, both of which are cost-sharing, multiple-employer public employee retirement
systems. Except for restricted programs as described below, the State pays virtually all of the employer’s
annual contribution, Total contributions paid by the State to the Plan for the year ended June 30, 2013 were
$10,331,627. On-behalf payments are recognized as revenues and expenditures in the Board’s general fund.
For teachers and other employees whose retirement expense is reimbursed from Federal Restricted Grants, the
Board remits monthly payments to the State which represent the amount of retirement expense charged to these
restricted programs. The Board has no contingent liability for funding deficits in the system should such occur.
The contribution and percentage of contribution for the past three years are as follows:

Contribution
Year Ended Annual Percentage Percentage
June 30, Contribution Contributed of Salary
2011 $ 841,309 100% 14.34%
2012 798,168 100% 15.45%
2013 739,283 100% 13.29%

In addition to the above contribution, beginning in fiscal year 2013, in accordance with Maryland Senate Bill
1301, Budget Reconciliation and Financing Act of 2012, the Board contributed $2,173,593 to the plan.
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Note 9. Pension Plans (continued)
Teachers Retirement System and the Teachers Pension System (continued)
General Plan Policies (continued)

The Teachers Retirement System of the State of Maryland was established on August 1, 1927 and is
administered in accordance with Article 73B of the Annotated Code of Maryland for the purpose of providing
retirement allowances and other benefits to teachers in the State. In addition, on January 1, 1980, the Teachers
Pension System of the State of Maryland was established. In this regard, teachers hired on or after January 1,
1980 become members of the Teachers Pension System, unless they elect to join an optional retirement
program. Existing members of the Teachers Retirement System have the option of remaining in the Teachers
Retirement System or transferring to the Teachers Pension System.

Significant Plan Benefits and Policies

The following is a general description of the significant plan benefits and related contribution requirements for
the Teachers Retirement System and the Teachers Pension System:

Teachers Retirement System

Retirement Benefits:
A member may retire with full benefits after attaining the age of 60, or after completing 30 years of creditable
service regardless of age. The annual retirement allowance is equal to 1/55 of a member’s average final
compensation (i.e. average of the member’s three highest years of annual earnable compensation) multiplied by
the number of years and months of accumulated creditable service. A member may retire with reduced benefits
after completing 25 years of creditable service regardless of age.

Vested Allowance:
A member terminating employment before attaining retirement age but after completing 5 years of creditable
service becomes eligible for a vested retirement allowance, provided the member lives to the age of 60 and does
not withdraw his or her accumulated contributions. Members terminating employment before attaining
retirement age and before completing 5 years of creditable service are refunded their accumulated contributions
plus earned interest,

Employee and Employer Contributions:
Members of the Teachers Retirement System are required to contribute to the systems a fixed percentage of
their regular salaries and wages (e.g. 7% or 5%, depending on the allowance option selected). The
contributions are deducted from each member’s salary and wage payment and are remitted to the systems on a
regular, periodic basis.

The State of Maryland contributed $10,331,627 on behalf of the Board while the Board contributed $2,173,593
during fiscal year 2013 as a direct result of Maryland Senate Bill 1301.
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Note 9. Pension Plans (continued)
Teachers Retirement System and the Teachers Pension System (continued)
Significant Plan Benefits and Policies (continued)

Teachers Pension System

Retirement Benefits:
A member may retire with full benefits after completing 30 years of eligibility service regardless of age, or at
age 62 or older with specified years of eligibility service. On retirement from service, a member shall receive
an annual service retirement allowance. The annual retirement allowance is equal to 1.2% of average
compensation for the three highest consecutive years as an employee for years of creditable service accrued
prior to July 1, 1998 and 1.8% of average compensation for the three highest consecutive years as an employee
for years of creditable service accrued on or after July 1, 1998. Members are eligible for early service pension
allowances upon attaining age 55 with at least 15 years of eligibility service.

Vested Allowance:
A member terminating employment before attaining retirement age, but after completing 5 years of eligibility
service, becomes eligible for a vested retirement allowance provided the member lives to age 62. Members
terminating employment before attaining retirement age and before completing 5 years of eligibility service are
refunded their accumulated contributions plus earned interest.

Employee and Employer Contributions:
Effective July I, 2011, members of the Teachers Pension System are required to contribute to the systems 7%
of their regular salaries and wages up to the social security wage base in the year ending June 30, 2013. The
contributions are deducted from each member’s salary and wage payments and are remitted to the systems on a
regular, periodic basis,

For members enrolled on and after July 1, 2011, the employee contribution is 7%} vesting requires ten years of
eligible service; service retirement is at age 65 with ten years of eligibility service or based on the Rule of 90
(age and service must equal 90); early service retirement is age 60 with 15 years of eligibility service; average
final compensation is a five year average; and the benefit multiplier per year is 1.5%.

The State of Maryland contributed $10,331,627 on behalf of the Board while the Board contributed $2,173,593
during fiscal year 2013 as a direct result of Maryland Senate Bill 1301,

Employer’s Payroll Covered Under the Plan

The employer’s payroll for the year ended June 30, 2013 and payroll covered under the Teachers Retirement
and Pension Systems is as follows:

Total payroll $ 110,940,512
Payroll covered under the plan $ 91,478,082

Additional information and ten year historical trend information can be obtained from the separately issued State
Retirement and Pension System of Maryland Annual Financial Report. The report may be obtained by writing
to the State Retirement and Pension System of Maryland, 720 East Baltimore Street, Baltimore, Maryland
21202,
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Note 9. Pension Plans (continued)
Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County
General Plan Policies
Employees not covered by the Teachers Retirement System or the Teachers Pension System of Maryland are
covered by the Retirement Plan for Employees at the Board of Education of Wicomico County, a single-
employer, defined benefit plan. Effective January 1, 1994, this plan was merged with the Wicomico County
plan to become the retirement plan for employees of Wicomico County and the Board of Education of
Wicomico County. Plan provisions remained relatively unchanged. Benefits and refunds of the
postemployment defined benefit plan are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the
plan. The costs of administering the plan are financed by contributions made and income earned from
investments. Separate financial statements are not available.
Significant Plan Benefits and Policies
The following is a summary of significant plan benefits and policies:
1) Eligibility - Employees are eligible if they are at least 18 years of age.
2) Contributions - Each year an employee is required to contribute 2% of his earnings up to $4,800
plus 4% of his earnings in excess of $4,800. Interest is credited at 5% per year. The Board
contributes the remaining actuarially determined amounts necessary.

3) Retirement:

a. Normal retirement is available for employees who are age 65 and over and have obtained
5 years of service.

b. Early retirement is available for employees with five years or more experience and who
are age 55 or older and are within 10 years of normal retirement date.

4) Benefits at Retirement;

a. For normal retirement, the member will receive a benefit equal to 1 2/3% of final average
earnings times the years and months of service after age 18.

b. Early retirement benefits are determined in the same manner as the normal retirement
benefits but based on service and salary accrued or earned up to date of early retirement
and reduced by the appropriate early retirement factors.

5) Vesting - A participant is 100% vested after five years of continuous service with the employer.
Employee’s Payroll Covered Under the Plan

The employee’s payroll for the year ended June 30, 2013 and payroll covered under the Plan is as follows:

Total payroll $110,940,512
Payroll covered under the plan $ 9,723,988

Plan membership at July 1, 2012, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, consisted of 312 active plan members
and 160 retirees and beneficiaries.
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Note 9. Pension Plans (continued)
Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County (continued)

Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation
The Board’s annual pension cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the
employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 27,
The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each

year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30 years.

The following table shows the components of the Board’s annual pension cost for the year, the amount actually
contributed to the plan, and changes in the Board’s net pension obligation.

Annual required contribution $ 626,908
Interest on net pension obligation (45,091)

Annual pension cost (expense) 581,817
Contributions made (648,705)

Net pension obligation (asset) (66,888)
Net pension obligation (asset) - beginning of year (65,293)
Net pension obligation (asset) - end of year $ (132,181)

The Board’s annual pension cost, annual contribution, and percentage of contribution are as follows:

Net Pension

Year Ended Annual Pension Annual Percentage Obligation
June 30, Cost Contribution Contributed (Asset)
2011 $ 787,370 % 640,980 81% $  (191,612)
2012 746,257 619,938 83% (65,293)
2013 581,817 648,705 111% (132,181)

Payments for the net pension obligation have typically been liquidated in the General Fund in prior years,
Funding Status and Funding Progress

As of July 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 84.8% funded. The actuarial accrued
liability for benefits was $20,925,849 and the actuarial value of assets was $17,740,383 resulting in an unfunded
actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $3,185,466. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees
covered by the plan) was $8,767,602 and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 36.3%.

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded
status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as
actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule
of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial
statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.
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Note 9. Pension Plans (continued)
Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County (continued)
Funding Status and Funding Progress (continued)

Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation follows:

Valuation date July 1, 2012
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal
Amortization method Level Dollar, open basis
Remaining amortization period 30 Years
Asset valuation method Market
Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return 7.75%

Projected salary increases 4.50%

Implicit in the investment rate of return and salary scale assumptions is an underlying general rate of inflation
assumption of 2.5%.

401(a) Matching Plan

Effective July 1, 2001, the Board implemented and began administering the Wicomico County Board of
Education defined contribution plan. The employer’s contribution is determined annually by the Board and is
based on eligible participant’s contributions to the 403(b) plan. The Board has the right to amend the plan at
any time according to the Plan document. Eligible employees must be 18 years of age and become fully vested

after five years of service. During the year ended June 30, 2013, the Board did not make a matching
contribution to the plan.

Note 10. Trust Plans Condensed Financial Statements
The condensed statement of fiduciary net position for the Pension and Retiree Health Plan Trust is as follows:

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

401(a) Employees Retiree Health
Matching Fund Pension Plan Trust Total
ASSETS
Current assets 5 3,400,120 % 19,160,924 $ 11,738,557 % 34,299 601
Total assets 3,400,120 19,160,924 11,738,557 34,299,601
NET POSITION
Held in trust for retirement
and other benefits $ 3,400,120 % 19,160,924 % 11,738,557 §% 34,299,601

67



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 10, Trust Plans Condensed Financial Statements (continued)

The condensed statement of changes in fiduciary net position for the Pension and Retiree Health Plan Trust is as

follows:
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
401(a) Employees Retiree Health
Maiching Fund Pension Plan Trust Total
ADDITIONS
Contributions $ - % 1,077,519 § 1,052,019 §% 2,129,538
Interest and dividends 175,332 514,117 248,765 938,214
Increase in fair value 287,916 1,150,728 804,790 2,243,434
Total additions 463,248 2,742,364 2,105,574 5,311,186
DEDUCTIONS
Pension benefit payments 157,398 1,128,708 - 1,286,106
Administrative expenses - 105,751 38,295 144,046
Total deductions 157,398 1,234,459 38,295 1,430,152
Change in net position 305,850 1,507,905 2,067,279 3,881,034
Net position - beginning of year 3,094,270 17,653,019 9,671,278 30,418,567
Net position - end of year $ 3,400,120 $ 19,160,924 $ 11,738,557 § 34,299,601

Note 11. Capital Leases

The Board of Education has entered into several lease agreements as lessee for financing the acquisition of
computers, software, and vehicles. These lease agreements qualify as a capital lease for accounting purposes
and, therefore, have been recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments as of the date of

their inception.

The following is an analysis of equipment currently being leased under capital leases as of June 30, 2013:

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Vehicles
Computers:
2010

2011

2012

2013

Total
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Equipment:

Capital
Assets

$ 82,405
1,554,556
300,779
1,822,462
1,614,911

$ 140,077
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Note 11. Capital Leases (continued)
Approximate future minimum lease commitments are as follows:

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Computers/Vehicles

Fiscal Year Ending 2013 2012 2011 Total

June 30, 2014 $ 411,000 $ 487,473 $§ 67,000 $ 965473

June 30, 2015 411,000 487,473 - 898,473

June 30, 2016 411,000 - - 411,000

1,233,000 974,946 67,000 2,274,946

Less: amount representing interest (29,089) (22,630) (1,501) (53,220)
Present value of future

minimum lease payments $1,203,911 § 952,316 $§ 65,499 § 2,221,726

Interest expense related to the above capital leases, with interest rates ranging from 1.20% to 2.75%, was

approximately $37,000 for the year ended June 30, 2013.
Note 12. Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows:

Beginning Ending Due Within  Long Term
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year Portion
Accrued compensated absences $2,854,037 $§ 256,389 $ 174,868 $2,935.558 §$§ 294,275 §$2.641,283
Capital leases 1,950,522 1,614,911 1,343,707 2,221,726 934,438 1,287,288
Total 54,804,559 $ 1,871,300 $ 1,518,575 $5,157,284 % 1,228,713 § 3,928,571

Beginning Ending Due Within  Long Term
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year Portion
Capital leases $ 35723 % - $ 35723 % - % - % -

The Board does not have the authority to incur bonded debt. Payments for compensated absences have typically

been liquidated in the General Fund in prior years.

Note 13. Deferred Revenue - Special Revenue

Deferred revenue in the special revenue fund consists of federal and state grants and other revenues that have

not been expended by June 30, 2013. Deferred revenue at June 30, 2013 consists of the following:

Medical assistance provider payments $ 2,344,338
Various other state and federal programs 243,779
$ 2,588,117
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies

The Board regularly enters into contracts for goods and services during the normal course of operations. The
contracts often extend over fiscal years. The Board has signed contracts for the renovation of Bennett Middle
School in the amount of $58,442,000. At June 30, 2013, $6,021,300 had been expended on the renovation of
Bennett Middle School related to these contracts,

The Board receives a substantial amount of its support from Federal, State and local agencies in the form of
grants. Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor
agencies; therefore, to the extent that the Board has not complied with the rules and regulations governing the
grants, refunds of any money received may be required and the collectability of any related receivable at June
30, 2013 may be impaired. In the opinion of the Board, there are no significant contingent liabilities relating to
compliance with the rules and regulations governing the respective grants; therefore, no provision has been
recorded in the accompanying financial statements for such contingencies.

The Board is a defendant in various lawsuits. After considering all relevant facts and the opinion of legal

counsel, it is management’s opinion that such litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the financial
position of the Board.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS AND EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
Retiree Health Insurance Plan Trust

Schedule of Funding Progress:

Actuarial
Accrued UAAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial Liability (AAL) Unfunded Percentage
Valuation Value of Projected Unit AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Date Assets Credit (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
@ (b) (b-a) (a/b) © (b-a)/c
07/01/08 $ 2,181,000 $ 34,046,000 $ 31,865,000 6.41% $ 109,000,000 29.23%
07/01/09 3,209,000 48,341,000 45,132,000 6.64% 109,000,000 41.41%
07/01/10 5,251,300 45,458,666 40,207,366 11.55% 101,419,000 39.64%
07/01/11 8,153,600 50,520,033 42,366,433 16.14% 98,246,000 43.12%
07/01/12 9,671,300 53,619,644 43,948,344 18.04% 103,261,000 42.56%
Schedule of Employer Contributions:
Percentage
of Annual Percentage
Required of Annual
Year Ended Employer Annual Required Annual OPEB  Contribution OPEB Cost
June 30, Contributions Contribution Cost Contributed Contributed
2009 $ 3,373,000 $ 2,601,000 § 2,613,450 129.68% 129.06%
2010 3,746,000 3,553,000 3,565,450 105.43% 105.06%
2011 4,354,000 3,584,337 3,592,074 121.47% 121.21%
2012 4,279,100 3,915,824 3,927,822 109.28% 108.94 %
2013 3,984,000 4,129,061 4,143,013 96.49% 96.16%
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS AND EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
Pension Plan for Employees

Schedule of Funding Progress:

Actuarial UAAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Percentage
Valuation Value of Liability (AAL) AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Date Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
(@) (b) (b-a) (a/b) () (b-a)lc
07/01/03 $ 10,066,394 $ 11,637,837 $ 1,571,443 86.50% $ 5,951,447 26.40%
07/01/04 11,230,846 12,556,267 1,325,421 89.44% 6,353,085 20.86%
07/01/05 12,113,245 13,883,815 1,770,570 87.25% 6,708,737 26.39%
07/01/06 13,375,529 14,610,973 1,235,444 91.54% 7,034,996 17.56%
07/01/07 15,284,191 15,820,246 536,055 96.61% 7,538,827 7.11%
07/01/08 15,642,697 16,870,084 1,227,387 92.72% 8,484,889 14.47%
07/01/09 13,369,971 18,200,762 4,830,791 73.46% 9,168,811 52.69%
07/01/10 15,030,395 19,424,052 4,393,657 77.38% 9,242 654 47.54%
07/01/11 17,790,677 20,163,825 2,373,148 88.23% 8,985,943 26.41%
07/01/12 17,740,383 20,925,849 3,185,466 84.78% 8,767,602 36.33%

Schedule of Employer Contributions:

Percentage
of Annual Percentage
Required of Annual
Year Ended Employer  Annual Required Annual Contribution Pension Cost
June 30, Contributions Contribution Pension Cost Contributed Contributed
2009 $ 529,564 % 446,207 $ 416,267 118.68% 127.22%
2010 591,306 553,910 516,743 106.75% 114.43%
2011 640,980 848,391 787,370 75.55% 81.41%
2012 619,938 804,092 746,257 77.10% 83.07%
2013 648,705 626,908 581,817 103.48% 111.50%
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES

REVENUES
Wicomico County appropriation
Operations
Local share of State pension
Total Wicomcio County appropriation
Other local:
Tuition - nonresident pupils
Tuition - other
Student payments/fees
Earnings on investments
Rental of school facilities
Miscellaneous
Total other local
State of Maryland revenues:
Current expense aid
Guaranteed tax base
Special education
Transportation
Miscellaneous
Non-public placement
Aging schools
Limited English proficient
Compensatory education
Total State of Maryland revenues
Other sources:
Out of county living
Administrative costs reimbursements
Total other sources

TOTAL UNRESTRICTED REVENUES

FEDERAL RESTRICTED REVENUES:
Education Jobs Fund'

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Administration
School management and support
Instructional salaries
Textbooks and instructional supplies
Other instruction costs
Student personnel services
Health services
Student transportation

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

riginal Final Actual Final Budget
37,000,000 $ 37,000,000 $ 37,000,000
2,173,593 2,173,593 2,173,593 -
39,173,593 39,173,593 39,173,593 &
. - 29.760 29.760
40,000 40,000 22,139 (17,861)
8.000 8,000 14,120 6,120
8,000 8,000 10,701 2,701
96,500 96,500 86.170 (10,330)
209,500 209,500 162,664 (46,836)
362,000 362,000 325,554 (36,446)
65,493,931 65,493,931 65,490,232 (3,699)
2,423,992 2,423,992 2,423,992 -
6,463,244 6,463,244 6,463,226 (18)
5,021,257 5,021,257 5,352,056 330,799
15,000 15,000 1.970 (13,030)
60,000 60,000 80,395 20,395
542,980 542 980 540,639 (2.341)
2,722,386 2,722,386 2,722,386 -
36,301,093 36,301,093 36,291,995 (9,098)
119,043,883 119,043,883 119,366,891 323,008
200,000 200,000 77.248 (122,752)
282,800 282,800 260,334 (22.,466)
482,800 482,800 337,582 (145,218)
159,062,276 159,062,276 159,203,620 141,344
3,102,581 3,102,581 - (3.102,581)
162,164,857 162,164,857 159,203,620 (2,961,237)
3,956,231 3,956,231 3,949,049 7.182
11,486,944 11,486,944 11,469,500 17,444
64,209,138 64,209,138 63,157.734 1,051,404
2,593,469 2,593,469 2,562,276 31,193
1,727,293 1,727,293 1,722,906 4,387
2.186.141 2,186,141 2,093,852 92,289
1,453,079 1.453,079 1.391.216 61,863
8,318,945 8,318,945 8,312,739 6,206
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2013
(Continued)

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

Original Final Actual Final Budget
EXPENDITURES (continued)
Operation of plant and equipment $ 10,513,992 % 10,513,992 § 10,104,384 § 409,608
Maintenance of plant 2,959,050 2,959,050 2.928.861 30,189
Fixed charges 29,668,548 29,668,548 29,135,838 532,710
Community services 200,219 200,219 195,763 4,456
Capital outlay 5,082,487 5,082,487 5,077.033 5,454
Special education 14,331,740 14,331,740 14,327,835 3.905
Food service 675,000 675,000 675,000 -
TOTAL UNRESTRICTED EXPENDITURES 159,362,276 159,362,276 157,103,986 2,258,290
FEDERAL RESTRICTED EXPENDITURES:
Education Jobs Fund' 3,102,581 3,102,581 - 3,102,581
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 162,464,857 162,464,857 157,103,986 5,360,871
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES BEFORE OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES (USES) (300,000) (300,000) 2,099,634 2,399,634
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Appropriation from capital projects fund - - (1,636,111) 1,636,111
Appropriation from June 30, 2012
fund balance 300,000 300,000 300,000 -
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) 300,000 300,000 (1,336,111) 1,636,111
EXCESS OF REVENUES AND OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES OVER
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER
FINANCING USES $ - $ - $ 763,523 § 763,523

' Education Jobs Fund - represents one-time Federal funding restricied for school-level salaries and benefits,
budgeted in the General Fund, and recorded in the Special Revenue Fund (refer to page 76).
These salaries and benefits have historically been funded from the General Fund.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
SPECIAL REVENUE
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Variance With

Budget Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
Federal sources $ 11,804,886 § 15,467,667 $ 3,662,781
State sources 715,801 959,923 244,122
Local and other sources 482,141 257,954 (224,187)
TOTAL REVENUES 13,002,828 16,685,544 3,682,716
EXPENDITURES
Administration 706,009 951,016 (245,007)
School management and support 104,893 133,637 (28,744)
Instructional salaries 3,989,798 4,491,954 (502,156)
Textbooks and instructional supplies 711,957 685,692 26,265
Other instruction costs 1,001,733 1,715,200 (713,467)
Special education 3,114,105 3,324,414 (210,309)
Student personnel services - 19,847 (19,847
Health services 3,726 9,309 (5.583)
Student transportation 573,960 258,642 315,318
Operation of plant and equipment 1,311 861,865 (860,554)
Maintenance of plant - 223 808 (223,808)
Fixed charges 2,795,336 4,340,157 (1,544 .821)
Community services - 50,804 (50,804)
Capital outlay - 22,497 (22,497)
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 13,002,828 17,088,842 (4,086,014)
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES BEFORE OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES (USES) - (403,298) 403,298
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Interfund transfers - 372,622 (372,622)
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES OVER
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USE % - 8 (30,676) $ 30,676
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NOTES TO BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The original budget, subsequent supplements and major transfers are approved by the Wicomico County
Council. Appropriations are for one year and lapse at year end. A legally adopted budget is prepared for the
General Fund and Special Revenue Fund, Amendments to the budget can be made with approval from
Wicomico County and the Board for inter-category transfers, and by approval of the Board for intra-category
transfers. By law, actual expenditures for each category and for each account within categories may not exceed
budgeted expenditures. The budgeted amounts presented include all budget revisions. A budget is adopted for
the Food Service Fund for internal purposes only.

The Board of Education prepares its budget and accounts for certain transactions on a basis other than generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Thus, there are two statements of revenues and expenditures for the
general fund in these statements; the first is prepared in accordance with GAAP and the second is prepared on
the budgetary basis in order to compare revenues and expenditures with budget. One of the differences between
the two statements is that increases (decreases) in asset account balances for prepaid expenditures and
inventories are accounted for as expenditure reductions or sources (increases or uses) on the GAAP basis
financial statements, but not on the budgetary financial statements. In addition, the appropriation from prior
year fund balance is accounted for as additional sources for budgetary purposes. Encumbrances are recorded as
expenditures for budgetary purposes but as a reservation of fund balance in the GAAP basis financial
statements. Finally, the State’s share of the pension and retirement fund contribution is recorded as revenue and
expenditures on the GAAP basis financial statements, but is not included on the budgetary financial statements.

Adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations and fund balances at the end of the year on the
GAAP basis to the budgetary basis are as follows:

Other
Financing
Sources
Revenues Expenditures (Uses)
General Fund  General Fund  General Fund
June 30, 2013  June 30, 2013  June 30, 2013

GAAP Basis $ 169,077,321 $ 169,603,619 § 386,513
Changes in asset account balances

not accounted for on Budgetary Statement:

Health insurance rate stabilization reserve activity:

Proceeds from insurance settlement - - (1,455,335)
Subsidy for rate increase - (1,351,891) -
Contribution to Retiree Health Plan Trust - (300,000) -
Interest earned on health care reserve (5,597) E =
Other expenditures (52,302)

Appropriation from June 30, 2012 - - 300,000

Transfers to other funds recorded as
budgetary expenditures
Encumbrances recorded as expenditures:
Established in current year - 4,228,163 -

1,047,622 1,047,622

Reversed from prior year - (4,124,687) -
Revenues recorded based on encumbered expenditures:

Established in current year 540,639 - -

Reversed from prior year (77,116) - -
State share of retirement and pension contribution (10,331,627) (10,331,627) -
Capital outlay funded by capital leases - (1,614,911) (1,614,911)
Budgetary Basis $ 159,203,620 § 157,103,986 § (1,336,111)
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NOTES TO BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

Note 2. Budget Calendar

The following calendar reflects the general sequence of events for the preparation and adoption of the operating
budget of The Board of Education of Wicomico County:

Approximate Date Procedure Performed
Late September Budget Manager distributes budget request packets to all employees
having budget responsibility.
October Board meets to review current year's budget line items and develop
priorities for new year's budget process/funding submissions.
Early November Employees with budget responsibility must turn in all budget

worksheets noting new funding, reductions and/or funding realignments
to Budget Manager to commence budget compilation and also to their
Director for review.

Mid-November Budget Manager meets with Directors to review/modify requests,
Late November Superintendent and Budget Team begin meetings to review/modify
all budget submissions.
Late December Comptroller reviews with Superintendent preliminary ongoing "Cost
of Doing Business" submissions.
Early January Assistant Superintendents meet and review with the Superintendent all

budget requests they would support putting forth to the
Board of Education.

Mid-January Board holds a Public Hearing to receive public input for the unrestricted
operating budget.
Late January Superintendent instructs Budget Manager regarding budget requests

to compile for submission to the Board & determines with Assistant
Superintendents their priority order.

February Budget work sessions with Board, Superintendent and staff.
Early March Board adopts the Proposed Budget at their regular scheduled meeting
and submits the Proposed Budget to the Wicomico County Council,
April Wicomico County Council has a public hearing to review their budget.

Late May Board holds a second Public Hearing to receive additional public input
for the unrestricted operating budget.

Late May Wicomico County Council adopts their Expense Budget & notifies the
Board of Education of our appropriation.

Early June Superintendent and staff begin work to revise the proposed budget

(if required) based on the actual appropriation from the Wicomico
County Council.

Mid-June Superintendent and staff submit their budget recommendations to the
Board of Education for their review,
Late June Board of Education adopts the Approved Budget at a special meeting.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES

GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS

UNRESTRICTED:
Administration:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total administration

School management and support:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total school management and support
Instructional salaries and wages
Textbooks and instructional supplies

Other instructional costs:
Contracted services
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total other instructional costs

Special education:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total special education

Year Ended June 30, 2013

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

QOriginal Final Actual Final Budget
$ 3,051,644 § 3,013,044 & 3,012,990 §$ 54
590,983 647,498 643,506 3,992
112,427 101,612 99 813 1,799
129,475 125,875 124,841 1.034
20,000 20,000 19,959 41
51,702 48,202 47,940 262
3,956,231 3,956,231 3,949,049 7,182
10,178,832 10,203,395 10,201,273 2,122
830,010 787,280 776,557 10,723
126,577 181,550 180,035 1,515
318,642 272,836 270.668 2.168
3,500 12,500 12,182 318
29,383 29,383 28,785 598
11,486,944 11,486,944 11,469,500 17,444
64,209,138 64,209,138 63,157,734 1.051,404
2,593,469 2,593,469 2,562,276 31,193
775,263 593,395 592,970 425
253,538 252,740 251,711 1,029
68,285 51,455 51,223 232
630,207 829,703 827,002 2,701
1,727,293 1,727,293 1,722,906 4,387
13,542,096 13,548,096 13,548,096 -
84,280 137,580 137,580 -
148,858 100,858 100,104 754
96,860 97,860 95,215 2,645
7,815 5,315 4,835 480
451,831 442,031 442,005 26
$ 14,331,740 $ 14,331,740 % 14,327,835 § 3,905
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Student personnel services:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total student personnel services

Health services
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total health services

Student transportation:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total pupil transportation

Operation of plant:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total operation of plant

Maintenance of plant:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment

Total maintenance of plant

(Continued)

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

QOriginal Final Actual Final Budget
$ 1,423,426 % 1.442,426 § 1,431,536 $ 10,890
693,920 663,920 587,176 76,744
28,110 39,560 38,185 1,375
25,348 16,398 15,418 980
3,000 18,000 17,510 490
12,337 5,837 4,027 1.810
2,186,141 2,186,141 2,093,852 92,289
1,359,025 1,352,025 1,297,062 54,963
37.000 28,550 25,098 3,452
49,650 48,500 48,164 336
4,017 4,017 2,291 1,726
- 16,600 16,534 66
3,387 3,387 2,067 1,320
1.453.079 1,453,079 1.391.216 61.863
420,102 433,202 433,131 71
7,703,018 7,257,918 7,253,671 4,247
25,660 21,660 21,615 45
138,658 132,658 132,267 391
27,970 469,970 468,533 1.437
3,537 3,537 3,522 15
8,318,945 8,318,945 8,312,739 6,206
4,536,342 4,436,342 4,356,683 79,659
745,734 572,734 549 581 23,153
838,373 1,354,373 1,223,485 130,888
4,325,946 4,027,946 3,854,302 173,644
61,516 116,516 115,834 682
6.081 6.081 4,499 1.582
10,513,992 10,513,992 10,104,384 409.608
1,135,514 1,138,514 1,130,949 7.565
898,252 1,099,252 1.089.645 9.607
848,715 619,715 618,523 1,192
10,826 10,826 4,690 6,136
65,743 90,743 85,054 5,689
$ 2,959,050 §% 2,959,050 $ 2,928,861 % 30,189
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Fixed charges:

Insurance and employee benefiis

Community services:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment

Total community services

Capital outlay:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Equipment

Total capital outlay

Food service:
Transfers

TOTAL UNRESTRICTED EXPENDITURES

(Continued)

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

FEDERAL RESTRICTED EXPENDITURES:

Education Jobs Fund'

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS
AND EXPENDITURES

' Education Jobs Fund - represents one-time Federal funding restricted for school-level salaries and benefits,
budgeted in the General Fund, and recorded in the Special Revenue Fund (refer to page 76).

Original Final Actual Final Budget
$ 29,668,548 $ 29,668,548 § 29,135,838 $ 532,710
34,252 36,852 35,382 1,470
61,904 59,304 59,155 149
17,921 17,521 16,049 1,472
43.416 43,816 43,815 1
42,726 42,726 41,362 1,364
200,219 200,219 195,763 4,456
592,619 474,619 474,513 106
1,089,431 1,274,431 1,273,658 773
172,004 162,004 159,974 2.030
3,228,433 3,171,433 3,168,888 2,545
5,082,487 5,082,487 5.077.033 5,454
675,000 675,000 675,000 -
159,362,276 159,362,276 157,103,986 2,258,290
3,102,581 3,102,581 - 3,102,581
$ 162,464,857 § 162,464,857 $ 157,103,986 §$ 5,360,871

These salaries and benefits have historically been funded from the General Fund.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - BUDGET TO ACTUAL

FOOD SERVICES FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS
Year Ended June 30, 2013

Variance With

Budget Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
Local sources $ 1,554,898 § 1,416,122 $% (138,776)
State sources 173,658 153,847 (19,811)
Federal sources 4,756,116 5,074,433 318,317
TOTAL REVENUES 6,484,672 6,644,402 159,730
EXPENDITURES
Salaries and wages 2,300,000 2,309,707 (9,707
Contracted services 73,400 55,880 17,520
Supplies and materials 3,624,444 3,781,428 (156,984)
Other charges 1,082,328 1,022,974 59,354
Capital outlay 79,500 78,131 1,369
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 7,159,672 7,248,120 (88,448)
OPERATING LOSS (675,000) (603,718) 71,282
OTHER RESOURCES
Interfund Transfer 675,000 675,000 -
TOTAL OTHER RESOURCES 675,000 675,000 -
EXCESS OF REVENUES AND OTHER
RESOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES $ - % 71,282 % 71,282

Adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations and net position at the end of the year on the
GAARP basis to the budgetary basis are as follows:

Other
Revenues Expenditures Resources
GAAP Basis $ 6,644,402 § 7,241,209 § 675,000
Encumbrances established in current year - 27.571 -
Principal portion of capital lease payment - 35,723 -
Depreciation of capital assets - (70,654) -
Capital asset current year additions - 14,271 -
Budgetary Basis $ 6,644,402 § 7,248,120 % 675,000
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
PENSION AND RETIREE HEALTH PLAN TRUST FUNDS
June 30, 2013

Total Pension

401(a) and Retiree
Matching Employees Retiree Health Health Plan
Fund Pension Plan Trust Trust Funds
ASSETS
Cash $ 135,277 $ 2,494,640 $ 2,150,055 $ 4,779,972
Trust investments
Government bonds 335,950 1,157,003 1,021,095 2,514,048
Commercial paper - 155,503 - 155,503
Mortgage loans 344,455 212,263 - 556,718
Corporate bonds 671,191 5,382,355 2,110,852 8,164,398
Common stock 1,781,323 9,759,160 6,456,555 17,997,038
Other 131,924 - - 131,924
Total assets 3,400,120 19,160,924 11,738,557 34,299,601
NET POSITION
Held in Trust for:
Retirement and
other benefits 3,400,120 19,160,924 11,738,557 34,299,601
Total net position $ 3,400,120 % 19,160,924 §$ 11,738,557 $ 34,299,601
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

PENSION AND RETIREE HEALTH PLAN TRUST FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2013

ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Employer contributions
Plan member contributions
Total contributions

Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends
Increase in fair value

of investments
Total investment earnings
Total additions
DEDUCTIONS
Pension benefit payments
Administrative expenses
Total deductions
Change in net position

Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year

Total Pension
401(a) and Retiree
Matching Employees Retiree Health Health Plan
Fund Pension Plan Trust Trust Funds

b - % 688,244 $ 1,052,019 % 1,740,263

- 389,275 - 389,275

- 1,077,519 1,052,019 2,129,538

175,332 514,117 248,765 038,214

287,916 1,150,728 804,790 2,243,434

463,248 1,664,845 1,053,555 3,181,648

463,248 2,742,364 2,105,574 5,311,186

157,398 1,128,708 - 1,286,106

- 105,751 38,295 144,046

157,398 1,234,459 38,295 1,430,152

305,850 1,507,905 2,067,279 3,881,034

3,094,270 17.653,019 9,671,278 30,418,567

$ 3,400,120 % 19,160,924 $ 11,738,557 §% 34,299,601




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES - AGENCY FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2013

ASSETS
Cash
Accounts receivable
Due from other funds

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Due to school

activity groups

Total liabilities

Balance Balance
July 1, 2012 Additions Deductions June 30, 2013

$ 38,953 § 2,432,591 % 2,432,465 % 39.079
1,500 - 1,500 -

393,570 44 228 B 437,798

434,023 2,476,819 2,433,965 476,877

2,358 4,008 2,358 4,008

431,665 2,472,811 2,431,607 472,869

$ 434,023 § 2,476,819 § 2,433,965 § 476,877
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STATISTICAL SECTION

This section of the Board's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and
required supplementary information says about the Board's overall financial health.

CONTENTS Page
Financial Trends

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how
the Board's financial performance and well-being have changed over time.

Net Position by Component 89
Changes in Net Position 90 - 91
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 92
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 93 - 94
Approved Operating Budgets 95 - 96

Debt Capacity
This schedule presents information to help the reader assess the affordability of
the Board's current level of outstanding debt. The Board has no authority to issue
bond debt. Wicomico County, Maryland may incur bond debt on behalf of the
Board to fund capital improvements.
Ratios of Outstanding Debt 97

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which the Board's financial activities

take place.
Enrollment by School Level 98
Enrollment by Grade 99
Budgeted Full Time Equivalent Positions by Function 100
Demographic and Economic Statistics 101
Operating Information 102 - 103
Where the Money Comes From 104

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the Board's financial report relates to the
services it provides and activities it performs.

Facilities Inventory 105
Capital Asset Statistics by Function 106
Insurance Summary 107

88



68

SWOUWSA 13N prn ‘Saounosay fo ssmopiy pariafag ‘saomosay fo smolfing paafag fo Suncoday powsury g9 con GOFD parusnsidin pioog iyl g o7 svad frosyf Surneg

SpAodR AIUMG) canueIg 0 BenTonpy fo paneg aYyr ANy

LOF' 19€°06T SLELLPLTT TEITTEY TET 6P 110°LTT 9TETESL LAY 081 C1L79¢1 LTY6TO8Y] LOF LOE OEL FIFRILT6L 88T°096°LO1
FCR'TIOF 6L TRL'F LTG9t'L 66T 8T L C9S°EILT 91E°66L°T B00"998°E £EE78T9°1 BEOTTZL'L LL9'OLT
SFRT660°EL £0T°CH6'T1 BREEITEN LLOTHOTEL 0P 0FS EN bl [1 A 109°T60°L 9L6"EE1E TTEI9L'T LEEITF]
BEL'REE"TIT EBL'EEL 60T 960°6r6 11T EL1656°90T 1T9°ErF 181 LEY TFEFFI LIOFTLOCLED 68 FTC ET1 FORTPETET FIT ELR S0L
o 108°1 606" TTL'1 TIOFITT 88F°9L071 TLT6E6 EER" 198 QLL'GEY TLL'ERY 6E6 E9L IEFFI8

0P 9re"l LBITLYFET] 9RELER EQE'ERC 0ZE"8E9 £C1°99¢ 9EL 6T DIE'LBE 0TT LES 6887165

T ESE TTL'SLE 9ETLSE ST E6k TEL'0BT 089" 66T O LZE OEF 86T BEL'GTT TFETET
SOE°098IT QOF BPL'CTT 68K LIF IET 190°sE6"6TT FEOPIR 961 LPE"EER"CS1 168°2LE LY 6197 129°621 SOPPSERIL LEB'SEL GO
FRTHIF 68E°THL ¥ LTIt L 66T 8T L COCTGOLT 1€ 66L°T GO0"998°E EEE78T9°1 |E0°TTLT LLSOLT
COS°R09°9 ECP 65E’D Q6R°LBOCE LOL°LYEY FRUTINE DEE°ECTE ELITLEE™T LEIOE Y BO9°T9E EST TR
00E"EH0°E 1957 88T°C QOL"BITL Lre'TLOS QEETGIL'L GOE"F<R°C TO9"99E°E ILE"B6TF P69 19871 CCOrTEE
QLY EFTTIT 190" 8EE" 60T 098" 16" 1IT B0 990" 90T 698°T91° 181 LLO'SHOFFI LLG ERL9ED OEF T ETL STI'B00°E11 LY OF9 S0L

£10T T 11T 01T HI0T BT L00T WNT ST F0T
Jeax [easiy

uoinisod 120 wawmanod Lewod Eop
PRILSHIULY
PaIaLsay
S1065% [RILdeD Ul JUAmSanT 19N
amaaed Lreung

womsod 12u sanianoe xd-ssamsng o]
SAPATIE IMAIIS POOJ J0J PAILNSTY
spasse [epden ur Juaunsasm g
sanmanae add-ssamsng

uotisod 190 S2ANIE [PIUAWLAN0E (R0 ]
PRIISAIULY
spoafioad [ende sop paroinsay
IS UOTRTGRIS JNRL IO} PAIISIY
spese [Ripdes up JUAImSasun 1N
SAPANIE [RJUSUALIZADLY

(Fununeaon fo s150q jIL2In)

sapay [easty uaf, pse ‘puauodwo?) {q wonsog jay
Aunoz) 0HWOIAY JO UONEIMPH JO PR ],

1 Anpay2s




BFYIEE 1Y S TE9'999°9¢ S I0I'S96'LE §  SEETURETYY S 901'886'EL S EFRIEOF S LL69SLLF S5 SLETOBY6E S 0B9°TFI'6E  § LOOG'EFSOE S

CO07888°9 9TL6TLT R68°T0T'8 B9F 966" 6T POT 066 T CCTORY 01 0£9°Z80°L1 FOOCLYTT ES6'FIRTTT P61 65" F

06579 0DILF 89I°F T0E°€ LOL LPE'R 21’9 SOLET [t | 9E6°C

EET 19F OFR 991 £66'691 059°EFT PRLETI 9T0°0T1 FEI1°001 OBH'T6 LET'001 66598

SLLELL' 08E°9L9 807699 HOCT1LE CO9F9 010°€09 R0 608 FCLBLY SPLLCE DLL'6FF

TIT'00E 66" E9E 68L'ROE HOL'ELT 896 FHE ETELGE BRL'TEL'Y LS L96'E 6BF'9TL'E LBE"HE9E

69581 0C8°L91 081'8L1 <00°081 CIL'EEl TTR'9T1 9zE Izl 0RT°L6 870'16 £19'68

L99'891 £00°T81 101681 6L 691 £95°Z€1 QLLFTL 1£2'801 R98°TO1 Q1816 9716

OLOY98T el 1L FILTL ETL'BOT'F1 GFP 8ESEL 86E°T9T11 1T BLL'GOE'6 16 E90'8 FEO'LE L SHLOFE'D

LPEERL'O] EFIERO°LL G99EE6'IT 90T 8T8 [B6'CE8'sl LLLEOR™ P GIE' TS EL ELL8TRTI TTT'819°T1 TILT99°EL

LE6'POT'1 HOITETL"T LIL6OE' 99671971 ST6OFT'I 6IL'OSI"I THFOIL GFEIFY FE8 095 9EF 06

i PP P a1 TPt POt P FF 008°L¥ DO8°LY 008 LY DOB"L¥

Q5L ¥ BI1T°CL 8B IS TLO'LE 610°F6 6ELFR 18t'L9 996°CE GOE'8S DOF 08

[T8°'LIT FEORIE £09°£79 GEORER L 086'T81°T LR PIOL 109 865" 1 LT EER EIT' 811 198" CoR

626'61 $ SRE'0T $ L = $:= s - $: = g g - - 3

ETI'STE96] S GTI'SESTI6I  § OE8°0E0°661 § 0OR'666661 5 OVEILITI6l S TBLG6EFRI S EERWIFCYl S5 GBPSECeRl S SUOTTETSEl § BEYEORTIEl S

60T IFT L FLOGPL'D 99.'B68'9 CI6GLL'D CSA'900'9 ETHTIY IS I 06HC PER 666" CRORTL P

60T 1T L $ FLOGFL'D $ 9908689 § EI6'SLLD $ CCA9N9 $ ETFTINY § S90S § BOV96H'S $ FEF666'T S SBO'STLF 5

FL6'980° 681 SCO'DER PRI FOO'ZET 881 ChE ECTEG] CRYFOCFRI GCETLBTRLI ROG PRF6C1 130 6E8ER] FETEET EEL ECCTIFIRTL

QL TET COCT6R1 LTOELL LLG 00T 698" +HT ETI°LKT 6111 L66°L91 FEFEL LET'LOI

- - = = = - = L6l CLO'61 TI6' vl

FFe'OCLE TLS'ELI'E 9CLElT'E 9EEFITE TIOEPT'E GLOTI06'T CRO°09E°T LBOCLTIT LB BFO'T 1FE°990°T

QT F9E €N SE0°799°TL SH1BIL'EN LG GELEL TH6'TE9 €1 LEETE0°EL 60T 10E' 11 FLOLTL'0L IL6'E9F'6 A i

Cly'cor's 085" 167'8 FOCI0F'S TLCHIE'R S0 LBE'S 60F'097°8 6FI'9IT'L OF86L9'0 £CC'SLL'G 1LTFOR'S

191°1€6'1 ST9°T68'T 058'810'T EO1°L96°T TE6°ELL T GCHT09°] 8896681 IT6°STET FTE861°1 DETSHITT

6FS THL'T PILFIST 181'9FL'T HT'ELL'T 188'60t'T BECTICTT IST'T68°1 BETRRET LETERT'T 696" 976

LECTISHT LSTLEEFT LOT'O0F+T OL9"FRL'FT £69°6T8'7T O8RS 066'1T 9CF L9L'6] TIL'BEY'LY 011°8E€°91 96T FILCT

TIG'P99°LTL CREECH ST QLL'EIE LT 61T C90°TEL 9+T'901°9T1 1£0°TL0'TTL REFRETON1 IBL'SFT 66 CI9'STH' T6 TE9° 06006

FIS'LAE'D S BIFIZTY § BrF'961'9 S 699119 5 r06'088'S S (B61E6'S § 0LTIrl'e § RELOIS S OF'SH0t S 9E0'0RLE s
E10T T T 0T 6007 B0 L00T 00T 00T FT

away [exsty

sanuaas werdoud samanoce pEwawwased oL
SUOINGUINGD pue SRS [mide]y
SAMAIZS ANUIMETELIO )
mepd jo aomeusnmepy
wawdimba pue wepd jo vonezado
uoraodsuen wapmg
SANALIS I[EaH
samA1as jauuosrad wapms
uonEInpa [erds
SAMAIDS [RUOTILIISU]
LONRISIURIPY
suoUNgUIu0Y pur sweid Suneadg
SANAIS AN
wawedimba pue wepd jo voneadg
SAMAJAS |RUOTIINIASU]
TOTenSTUTDY
SANALIE J0] SaFzEY))
ISR [RIIAUILIAAOD)

SaNuAANY WeIdosg

sasuadya Juamnmanod Lrewod peop
sasuadya samanae adf-ssansng mop
SINAIIE POO]
ssapianoe add-ssousng
sasuadxa samange eI el
SIOLAIAS AJLMLITD )
NI PO0
1repd o aouruTERY
moadinbe poe wepd jo voneiadg
voneuodsuen juapng
S20IA138 [NEIH
sa0rATas [aamosiad mwapmg
uomeInpa [eoadg
SAOLALSS [BLONMIISU]
UOLNESELILRY
ISANANME |EIUHALLLIAOCY

sasuadeyg

(FuneneIon fo sIc0g o)

SRR [BIS1] UL 15T ‘UOnISoq 1N ul sadury))
ApUNOT) DO JO UOEINP JO pITOg ],
T AnpayRs




16

“SPUOXdL Ames) eonuediy o woneonpd fo paoog ayf  jadmog

CE0'068'T $ (9EL091°E) § THS0TYS $  ECTRST6T $ 9rI'SE0’ It §  £6Ce80'8 § 9TT'ITLLl § LL6"88I'TI S 9EI'SSSIL S (86L'ETY) % uswaned Lrewud e L
E6178L LT 80% FEIBEN T LET GEFLL LSO S0 (966°8LT) (£81°8L) {zeroa) (850°0L) sanuanae adi-ssausng
6ETT1B'T S (£70°699°C) § BIVISES $ LODTITIT6T §  LOL096°0F § 96K 0BT'8 § TTTIS6LI § FILSTTI S B09°819°11 S (OkL'ESE) 5 SAADE [ETUSWILIZA0D)

uomsag 12N Ul ASuEy)

COUTHT'IST 8 0OF0ST'ER] $ I6E'96E9F] S 10IFI8'951 $ 9BFLBTTEI S TIOTIONLKD § IBE'FFE'OET  §  BECTLBY'CII $ BLTFIL'SOT § ELTFHOLG s wamases Lrewnd e g

DO ELY 000" 06L D00 0SL HIL'EES D00 0SL (N DEL BOF'CO BTTTY LIS LEp sananae adfi-ssauisng [e10]
[LLLRNEY 00" 5L O 0sL HIL SER (LRI 00" 0sL 000 €9 ERELE - - SIaysuel ],
- s - s - s - s - £ - § BOFT § SFEF $ LIS S LEF s STURLIED JUAMSAU]

ssananoe add)-ssausng

SO LOS0ST 00F 00E THT 16 9F9'SF] LBE BE6 ECT 98t LECTIST TI0 19T 9%1 E16'BLT OET OTESTFEII T91°60L° 50T QIR ER0" LG SANIANIE [EJUMNLIA0E [F)0L
(000 5L9) (000" 05L) (000°0sL) (H0L SE8) (000 08L) (000" 05L) (000" €9) (£88°LS) - - SIAJSURLL
10401 ILT°L 90T'LT FIE"OT 9CT'RLT FOO" 658 SIT'900°1 LP6 99 STL'TLT 189°€C1 SEUMLIED JIBNSIAU]
- - - - - - - (rrestish - - sjasse Jo |esodsip uo 5oy
oo TOE 001 T IEL OL8 E0T ELT' 16 £0E FL Oz Los TE9 6HEE ETF'OFE 1L 79T AU IAN0)
RS ELL'RE THR961°9E Th8'961'Er TIL 18L 0C CEOPOT 08 £C0°ERT 6F CIR'6IE 8F B ST O SLOVIEL 9% CI8 6L CH voneudondde Sunoy oo Ay
[99°L66° 111§ £L8°SHE901 $ ILE0R0E0L  § 9517808601 $ TEELLTOL  § T EEY9% §  LERB0F08 § L IS0'89 $ BE6E96°8C S LOOTLLETOS ] PUEAIRY JO 9e1g

ISAMANIT [RIUALIAAO0
UOMISO] 13N Ul SaSURYT) SN PUR SINUIANY [BIIUIL)

(ELO°Teesrl) S (ELTLIFEPI)  § (GTR'SLLOFD)  § (BLE'SSCLTI) S (DFE'EFTIIL S (68F'STESEN)  § (SE1°7T9°TI)  § (196°86T°H0I)  § (EFI'9SI'te) S (1L0°899°La6) S avuadxa 120 wawnaned Arewnd feoL
(LO8'965) (E1L18T) (998" 119) (88F"31L) (19<'zL9) (EF6"FHE) (#9+ +6T) S1H'or) (68E59) LS TS sanane adi-ssaursng
(Qoz'eeL’ 1) § (ETF'691°8FI) & (£96°€O1°0F1) € (06E°LER'OTI) & (6LL'9LS'OID) S (91€°086°LEL) & (I69'LTETIL) S (GFISSIFOI) & (#CC060't6) & (0SS L66°L6) & SALNE [BIUAULIAA00

anmaaay f(asuadxg) 1an

S0 9L6 LY $ 66 ELIER S TO0SETHS $ TH6ERPTL $ 00 TTH6L §  ETERLO9F S BLOTORTS § BT69E0°SH § SISOO0Fr S L9ST10T'SE 3 sanuanas ureaford jusunuaned reniud oL
0¥ #19°9 19€°L05°9 0069879 LTPLODG POEFER'S 08P LIL°S 10L°6F9°C ES0°95E"S SHe'eee’ DLE" LSO F sanuasar werdoud sanianae adiy-ssauisng (e
0ST'8TT'S CET 96" F 890 P99t ETT95EF 096'+01° % FESTFR'E CLEBH'E ETEBEEE 201°TH0E EIE°TIRT SUOTIMGLINOD PUE SWEad Suneradg
TIoiFl S 90IT19s1 § TERTTY0 $ HTI0L $ PEV6IR'I S 9FRETR’l $ 9TI'L66’T § O0ESLIOT $ LEL'I6B'I S LEDEERTL % SIS J0) SIT2RYD)

ssamanae adf-ssausng
(PanUU0d) SANUIANY WEIFoug

T LT 0L 60T 00T LOOT 00T S00T

oz
:
g

(Furmoedon fo SI50g o)

SIEAY (RIS UL ISE] CUONISO 1N Ul SaSuRy)
AJUROT OMNUOI A, JO UOHEINPG JO PIBOE ],
(PANUNU0) T HANPIPS




6

swontufacy 2dy pung piusunason pup Suioday souppmg pung B¢ CoN gS¥0 paunwapdun pavog s ‘oo aved jeasy Suuneg

OFF 12591 660°905°1T FrE 660" €l ISTFPIEL & 6E9°660'8 PLTITL'Y LS6'TLE'T
LLG'LFS'D COR'GIOF CeL96l’€ 1165791 § 618°005 S6EPIF 80€° I8¢
SOS 8099 LIL°LYFS Y 0SS ECTE EL17LES"] 680°89F B09°T9E £CT TOF
TLF'6E 860°69 iy BEL'BT $ ODEL'TE L8671 £L0°68
€91 £L8'6 FET 68891 6RETO6 6 OLERISTTT § OTR'B6SL 6L9°90E 6FF TT8 1
000°00€ 000°000°t 000°00g 000°00€ TET'LYS L0 96% 0z0°0IE
000" 00E 000°00E 0007008 TETLHO'T LF9'9LE 0oorote LTETI
€91°8TT'F LBT'9IS 08T°8F6'T 9 C08°E OLE™ILET BIETBEE'] 1887556
90L°E6T 1 LY6EFD'S SLLPEE'E CHP oS0’ PRESFFT TLPT090°1 683°60¢
P6STISLE 000°6TH T FECT6I1E'T LYTB0E'T  § LBE6FR'I TLT 108 TEI'PET
£10T 10T 1107 010T 8007 LOOT 90T S00T F00T
g3y [edsiy

SpUn, [BIUAMLIZA0G [RI0],

SpUN} [PIIAILIAA0S 1[I0 [[B [RI0],
s1aafoad penden)
anuaaax [eroadg

:sasodind pung 0y paioinsay
SpuUng [BIURMUIAACD) JAQ0) [V

punf [RIU20) [BIOL,
paudisseun)
saanupuadxa meak wanbasqng
(saouraqunaua) sasodind sapg
AAIASIT UOTIRZI[IGEIS 2181 ABINI[EIH
10 paudissy
aAIASA UOTIRZI[IGEIS 20R1 UBNEIH
PATULIO.)
puny [eIsuan

(Sunrunodsn Jo sisog jroon paipou)
SIEaj [BISIY WAL ISE]
Spunj [EJUAMILIIAGS ‘SIURTRg pun |

{unon) oNmwoN Yy JO UoIeEInpy Jo pIeog Ay,

£ ANPIYS




£6

(Le9°91E°T) (L19°L6T°9) (9<4'899°7) BEFRET'C TTELIET] (TE6°E5CT) 91'9M01°T [168°Z85) 69799 (WLey 1L 1)
01+068°F61 LY FL17981 BF6'TED"LOI LOU'TRE’LIT OLL 06" FTT LBLTILB 681 GTL THEELL 89T 8ET 951 6FE 0T 1 DS GEL BT
LTHIEE 0L BR0°CHEEL EEETE68TEL 088°91E°T1 ESH 06E701 ILE'SEYF 6 I86°LLP'L BLY'TBLY 017899 EECHSI'D
9F9°9€ PE9°6E 60T 18 069°01 1 6£T°0EL S0E'tE ELLT1E £0L°0S 1S%°9% 881
LOL'ERET OLOTOFE"L V10 d o | 896°856°1 B L0149 66E°9TT1 6957008 £PRTI9 CTEFET
IPE EBE 1 LYY 9T6°8 BIF E6L"ST TS0 P88 FE IF6'£T9°LY 6L 6LO06] LLVIES'IT 0TE9re'S1 SELFIF T 168°6F6°S
DBL™BIT L A L1651 06L" 881 ELEFHT B19°9%T v Il LG6L9T FEF'ELL LTT'LOT
- - - - - - - cLO's1 CLO'6L TI6'F1
CO9'BLT'SE 869°LI1'EE 8E6'918°TE LI9STHOE BOSFE9%6T LEL'TLE 6T SFI'FEE'ST FIRFOLET LBL'BBT'IC 965 ELR 61
BEF91°C 006°019°C FOETECE T LFI'T89T BOOOVET 86°608°CT STI'EF0'T BRT6FE1 TRETLISI LEG068"1
9zI'8cc 0l LITFL9°6 CERT99°01 1£9°649°01 ITE'FI801 16+ 00£"01 FII'TIE 6 TEE'6IE'S 9ED 1T L T 609
LY 6FT'S 019808 GFL 9818 6TL601°8 18F"966°L LL6'ESRL GRE°TOL'Y 1+0°86£°9 POTLIG'S T69°T09°S
999°88E°1 CTIFELE'T LOT 89F°1 o6 8FF 1 OFS S8E™1 PS6'ECT 1 STI9LTI TII8F0"1 S91°LE6 1S£°E88
L 6E1°ET0°T LBOEET'T E0%°T61'T FITHIOT 196°SL81 1TL89€71 690071 BL8°1T6 6L Co0
BER6I9LI E0SLET'LL LETLYI'LL OFE 1TE 81 BLYGLEI I£6°TEE 91 901568 F1 LERVEFEL D6ET9SETL T FBL LI
BEOBISTE 066'88E°T 0TF LOE™T COI'608°T GI9EITT Lk IF1996°1 BBL16LT SPLLOLTT FRLIEL']
06T LOV'E TLLT98'T TOEL96°E Q01°ETE'Y COTELO T OTRLEF' R QITELTY TL6'T09'E 809°61T°E FLULLF'E
889°619°L9 B6F 867799 FRO69CETLO 98E'TET 1L BE6OVETOL S60°FBL'99 90T'TLOEY SSH'609°LS 102°CL8ES LSETILIS
TS 6l DEL'EIE"TL FOF'99€7 11 CID08 11 FEORI9° 11 6T8 160711 9LE 6RE 01 FE9°620°01 LOOFIT 6 E61°BET' D
020996 £61°16L°F OLE 69971 9C0°68L' Y CEEBIN T 010°T6S "+ 6TS0FR'E FE90T0 600°T91°E 896°EFRT
ESLELS 61 DE0°LI6™6LI T6F L P61 9C9°00T ETT T68 SLT9TT SCRLIETLSI 168868 LL1 LLE'SL9EE] FROTTER 1 E18°LBE LTI
6F8°ILE TIELY 006 FFL LL6'SLEG TFE0TII EBLFITTT 681°0EF" 1 QLETLLTT TLO'BE0°1 IS
168°88T°C LL9°0TT'1 $98°60T BO9TEIL] 8E6°S6F 0T LEI'OFE'6 9FETTFL'S S00°6FL"L LETFIGL 66F7008"¢
L99°L9F°C1 TETH99° 11 SO LIT LY [ x| EBO8TOI1 CE6°L6L"01 PER'GTO 1T sz 101°€69°01 SEOGET 0N
LT 1EE01 BRYCREEL EEETE687E] 088°91€°T1 ESFD6ET01 ILE'S6F 6 T86°LLF'L BLF'TBL'Y £01°89F°9 £EETF619
E0S"E0T #T1 LAFBEE L1 FOR' 090811 6TT88F 9T PR E1T0E1 LS| BEF'OLO'86 LA E0S 08 BFI890°1L OFT ESE 68
£79°9E5 TOLLER EEO'LFD] 9TRLIE'T 091" 1287 SI0°ILTT LIT'BIF'T 1L6°1EF 1 FITGEE"] oFeT o
E65°ELTT - - - - - - - - -
000°DOO'LE S THR'OGI9E S TER'GGLEr S IIL'IBL'OS § SSOMOT0E § ESO'ERPAY S SIS'GIESF S BSH'STE9F S ELOTIEDOF S CIZGLOSH S

£l 10T 1T0T 10T HOOT B00T LOOT 90T S00T FO0T
Je3Y el

saunipuadxa
(13pun) 120 SINUIAST JO SSIINT
saunnpuadxa ey

wonngued voisuad pue
WV JO MBS PUBPIRY J0 0015

1sauapm aseaj [ende)y
1ediound aseap jendeny

OTAIIS 103
Sepno jende)y
saalas ANUnunneD)
EATEVECR VAR |
safieyd paxig
wepd jo aouruaLIERY
awdinka pue weyd jo vonwadg
vornepodsuen wapng
SANALAS HEIH
sa01ATas [aunosiad yapmg
uoneInp2 eeds
SISO0 [BUOTIINLISUL 13GI0)
sanddns feuononnsul pue syooqINaL
SHIBTES |RUCHININSU]
uoddns pug wawaSeuE (OO
UOTRIISTUTHEPY

saanypuadxy

SanuAAL [RI0T
13010

AUNOD) OILOI AL
wol) spaaooad puog Jo Jajsuel]
AWM YEno wIapag

uonngumed uoisuad pue
AT JO TS PUBIAIRIY JO IG5
puwjiiRy Jo 21mg
ANUIA [B2O] JAUI0)

WMSUag

suoneradoy
suonedoudde Qunoly oomwoangy,
SIMUI AN

(Eurnunoadn o sisng [ paifiponu)
SIEa ) [EIS] W], 158]

‘Spunyg [EICMILIIAGL ‘SaduRjey pung ul saSuey))
Ao} 0XL0TAY JO UOHEMPY JO pIeog L,

F AnpayRs




¥6

%80 %80 %60 %1 BTL %Ol %60 %L0 BEO HTO samnitpuadya jendesvou
Jo 38muaasad e se 2014228 1920
68S8L $ (999°798°E) § (ZBCOOT'I) § 9Z9°99€+ § GTIORDF S (LE6'FR) S THOFHOC S SOETBLEE S LIEBFET  § (L66°I0F) 8 s20uefeq puny ul 25ueyD 1N
GFTC6E'T 1S6'16E"T FLEL9F1 (EER" 168} LOETLYT 66805 08+'8E6°T 9CT 196 TTOTOL°N L 69 (525M) $200N08 FUIDUTULY SO [EI0]

- - - HQS.SG.HV - - - - - - _.w_.._m:uU QIO AN,
o1 spuny wepd sTwaes jo Japsua]
(000 L9} (D00 0sLY (000" 0sL) (000 0ELY (000" 0sL) (Do0'DELY (D00 £9) (£88°L8) = SPUNJ 310 01 SIAJSURIL
CEETECE I FROOFTL CH0LIA'T [19°E0€ LOE'9ER"T L19°88F IT1L90°1 QLR LR T TLOLIE™T = waunsnipe VOETIIQRIS 218y
116'v19°1 L8 H06"1 GLL00E LI s 0009971 BLEOLL'E GEEFER| £97°T8S°1 056" E8E 0L 6L spaaooud 2sea] [ende))
(SI8]) Sa0amog SUdUEEUL] Y0

£I0T TI0T 10T 0107 600 B00T L00T G00T S00T FO0T
dmay (eS|

(Sununoaon o sisog oo paifipon)

SIEDN [BISL] WA, 15

‘SpUn] [EIIAIILIAA0G “SOUR[EY pung W) Saguety
U0y MWLM JO UONEINDY JO preog ay],
(PANUBUCD) ¢ ANPIYIS




$6

*SUONDUNY $S0108 (Sulpun] [RIapad JW-2U0) pung SQOf UONEINPT JO UOHIEXO[[E SAPN[AU] .

SPAOIRL QUN0T) 0O JO uounonpg fo pavog Ay axnog

89L°65F1 1+1°981°C 106 FEE 1 €6CLTL'T 697" €68°T 1TS°LLS D b9 sl 1£2°9S6'€ =£10C
SC0°69E"1 68T ESTT AT TEEFI 019°SELT SCLTDDS T SRESHD'ED CLTSFE' L 6S6'ECRE i [0
L18°BECT] 6E0TDET'T TITOI8'EN CTEDES'T TFT E00°E 979 F06EY ISP T COLSII' Y 1102
T09° 88T 1 LBLIBTT AL OLT'F] £TO198°1 P09 LISTE LIT1EE°L9 SHTFER I TER'GST'T 010z
CEC'OTE"1 $BO'6661 PO ILF R 089°96L° 1 CCC T0L'E FIOELECT TOL LLL' LT £99°1€1°F 600t
1L1°6L1°T CHO'898°1 19€°18T°€1 SE9ECLT LETT96'E 1+8°0SE° €9 BLLTBOTI D0EL68 € 800T
QTR 051’1 THO' TSl LFO8P0°TI FH10TE' 1 9ER"FRO'E LET 8L9 68 QCL RLY D1 EH0°LOOE L00T
C16'896 CLO'T6S 1LT°L6F 01 SL6'8BI'1 E117900°€ CEG'TCT ¥E BIT#S0°01 006" SFE'E 00t
#79°968 trE' 116 1€9°98€°6 CERDS6 SLEERS'T 095 9€8° 61 6T1°TT06 €ECT198°T S00T
TLO'8ER L69°CA9 099°919°8 E6'COR CI0°T6E'T CCCRIC LY +99°CLA'8 CCLORT'T +00T
SINAIIG [puuosIag uonempy §1500) safddng SaTE AN yoddng pue UOLRIISTUTPY Ieay
yipeagy uapmg [eadg [EuonINISUY [BUOLINLIISUY puB SAIR[ES Juawadeuepy AR |
juapryy ELUEE] PuE SY0OqIxa [BUOTNIISUL [0S

(Sununoaon fo sisng jmL2aon paifipow)

SIBIX [BISl] UL I5€]

spPEpng Supesad( pascaddy

(psuadxy JuaiIny PajaLISaIuf)) Pung [RIIUIL)
AJUNoD) 0JMWOdIAY JO UOHEINPH JO paeog ],
£ anpatpg




96

*SUONOUNY §$0I08 (Sulpunj [EIapag JWI-2U0) pUNg SQOf UONEINPY JO UOHEIO|[E S3PN[AU] «

Spa02as o)) oonuodiy fo vonuponpg fo pamog ayl  fadumog

LSR 19t 791 L8 T80°S 61T°00T 000°SL9 LY TOF IE BE0'E91°E LTR66TT1 SP6'RIE'S +€£10T
CEQELLICEI LIS THO'Y L30°T61 000°0SL 8FE 660°LT 6LFOLOE SISTFE ] 0TRIT'S TI0Z
$OC°LBE LS] ELT0ST'S 19€°L0T 000°0SL STEOLI'LT I68°618°T SELPES 11 LP6'600°8 1107
£6S'908'591 LLT'ETR'9 19€°L1T 000°0SL 079 £F9°8T 0L6'LE0°E P96°EEE T 600°8ET°S 010z
1LE°8€8 191 1EF' 859 ££6'91T 000°08L 0E8'8FI'LT 676'6V6'T TE66LITT GFE'0SL’S 6007
11T°T1E°961 ISL'SLI'L 91'91T 000°Z11 LSE'98I°LT LSS'THS'T $80°€€5 01 BEL'SETL z
081°L96'6£1 LIO'SST Y 791'80¢ 000°0€ 961 FA8TT 0LE'STT'T SHFOZIT'01 185°LBS'D LO0T
¥88°698 +T1 TLI'6EEE T9L 18] SLO6l 081°€5L°0T 678°586°1 05T'96T°8 FIO'GL1'9 9007
S6FBI0ETI 08E+TE'T T9L°6F1 SLO6I 8ET6T061 18T°09L°1 £91°6TS°L THSI9L'S S00T
£EE 6L P01 TFSOH0'l 9T°L6 000°61 665 TROLT L9581 986" 1TL'9 SSO°LOS'S +00T
_N_.a...—.. ..nﬁ—g_._o wm_un.rnu.w wmn.-..r—wm mu“.._ﬁ—mu .,.-._N_.m .u.u _._m.&u.m :Dm”_.ﬁuh_u_n—m_.___w._...—._ hﬁm—?
rende)y Apunwmo)) poog paxig duBIUIRY Jo uoneradgy uIpmg [eas1g

(Jununooan fo s1soq oo paifipow)

SIe3 ) [EI51d UA[ ISe]

(panumuod) s}aspng sunesad paicaddy
(aswadxyg JupLIND) PAILNSAIUL) punf [RIIUID)
AJunogy 0dMUOdIAL JO UCIIEINPF] JO pavog L
(panunung) g ANPaYIs




Schedule 6

The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Ratios of Outstanding Debt
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Governmental Business
Activities Activities
Total Percentage of
Fiscal Capital Capital Primary Personal Debt Per
Year Leases Leases Government Income (1) Capita (1)
2004 1,079,326 1,079,326 0.04% 11.93
2005 840,433 840,433 0.03% 9.11
2006 1,556,334 1,556,334 0.05% 16.67
2007 2,264,294 - 2,264,294 0.07% 24.12
2008 3,363,600 - 3,363,600 0.10% 35.70
2009 3,031,468 - 3,031,468 0.09% 30.70
2010 2,627,056 103,577 2,730,633 0.08% 27.53
2011 1,385,725 70,260 1,455,985 N/A 14.47
2012 1,950,522 35,723 1,986,245 N/A N/A
2013 2,221,726 2,221,726 N/A N/A

(1) See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for personal income and population data.

N/A - Not available
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Schedule 10
The Board of Education of Wicomico County

Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Years

Personal Per
Income (2) Capita Civilian
(thousands Personal Labor Unemployment

Year Population (1) of dollars) Income (2) Force (3) Rate (3)
2004 88,665 2,615,071 29,494 50,021 4.4%
2005 90,489 2,800,695 30,951 52,096 4.2%
2006 92,224 2,936,136 31,837 52,951 4.0%
2007 93,343 3,103,288 33,246 52,458 3.9%
2008 93,859 3,226,603 34,377 53,102 + 52%
2009 94,222 3,278,842 34,799 52,577 +* 8.8%
2010 98,733 3,374,513 34,145 53,502 + 9.5%
2011 99,190 3,470,201 34,985 53,221 ¢ 9.3%
2012 100,647 N/A N/A 53,135 O 8.6%
2013 N/A N/A N/A 51,945 * 8.8%

Sources:

(1 Population Estimates are from the U.S. Census Bureau and represent estimates as of July st of each year.

(2) Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. Department of Commerce. (Income data for 2012 and 2013 is not

currently available.)

(3) Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor.

+ Reflects adjustments 1o new slate controls.

] Reflects revised inputs, reestimation, and adjusiment 1o new staie control lotals.

* Civilian Labor Force and Unemployment Rate for 2013 are preliminary based on information through June 30, 2013.

N/A Not Available
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Schedule 13
The Board of Education of Wicomico County

Facilities Inventory

BEAVER RUN ELEMENTARY
CHIPMAN ELEMENTARY
DELMAR ELEMENTARY

EAST SALISBURY ELEMENTARY
FRUITLAND INTERMEDIATE
FRUITLAND PRIMARY

GLEN AVENUE ELEMENTARY
NORTH SALISBURY ELEMENTARY
NORTHWESTERN ELEMENTARY
PEMBERTON ELEMENTARY
PINEHURST ELEMENTARY
PRINCE STREET ELEMENTARY
WEST SALISBURY ELEMENTARY
WESTSIDE INTERMEDIATE
WESTSIDE PRIMARY

WILLARDS ELEMENTARY
BENNETT MIDDLE

PITTSVILLE ELEM./MIDDLE
WICOMICO MIDDLE

SALISBURY MIDDLE SCHOOL
J.M. BENNETT HIGH

MARDELA MIDDLE/HIGH
PARKSIDE HIGH SCHOOL
WICOMICO HIGH

Jersey Road

Morris Street

Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-MIS

Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Annex 2-4
Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Central

Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Facility

Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Maintenance
Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Warchouse
Civic Avenue-County Stadium

Schumaker Drive-Instructional Resource Center

OTHER SCHOOLS:

Adventist Drive-Choices Facility
Beaglin Park Drive-Tech Ed.
Northwood Drive- Infant/Toddler

Roberts Street-Early Learning Center

Year
Constructed Acreage Sq Ft. area

1958 16.14 58,893
1986 6.5 40,752
1978 10,2 80,810
1942 12.1 61,889
1990 10 43,712
1955 18 56,308
1964 15 55,068
2006 8 76,999
1966 10.4 26,800
2002 18.78 73,917
1988 8.9 76,224
2008 14.8 73,830
1964 15.35 25919
1999 10.5 54,797
1956 18 20,569
2003 42 51,247
1966 24.3 129,335
1956 13.46 79,335
1957 16 135,750
1999 75.68 143,519
2010 34.46 247,202
1958 39.79 87,633
1974 50.02 164,178
1996 60 195,941
various 37,629
various 9,537
various 4416
various 21,109
various 15,486
various 20,019
various 4,704
various 8,640
various 4,000
various 2,012
various 29,152

1997 113,546
Leased
various 11,321

Source: The Board of Education of Wicomico County records.

*Year constructed has been adjusted to year of last major renovation.
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Schedule 15

The Board of Education of Wicomico County

Insurance Summary
7/1/12 - 6/30/13 policy dates

Type of Coverage

Name of Company

Policy Number

Policy Period

Limits

Workers' Compensation

Comprehensive General Liability

Personal & Advertising Injury Liability

Employee Benefit Plan Fiduciary Liability

Automaobile Liability

Personal Injury Protection - MD

Maryland Uninsured Motorist

Automobile Physical Damage

Garage Keepers liability

Criminal Proceeding and Intentional Conduct Defense

Fund

Property and Boiler and Machinery

Crime

Crime - Excess

School Board Legal Liability

Catastrophic Student Accident

Fiduciary Responsibility Liability

Pollution Liability - Mardela WWTP

Pollution Liability - above ground storage tanks

MABE Workers'
Compensation Group Self-
Insurance Fund

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

MABE Group Insurance Pool

AIG

Travelers

Endurance Insurance

Endurance Insurance

Source: The Board of Education of Wicomico County records.
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N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

SRG 0009100887

104341178

EIL101008462-01
EIL1010108170

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

7/01/12-6/30/13

8/1/12-8/1/13

TN112-7/11/15
6/30/10-6/30/13

Workers Compensation -
Statutory Benefits; Employers
Liability - $1,000,000

$100,000 per occurrence

$1 million per occurrence
should sovereign immunity be
abrogated

$100,000 per occurrence

%1 million per oceurrence
should sovereign immunity be
abrogated

$100,000 each claim with
$250,000 annual maximum

$100,000 combined single limit
$1 million combined single limit
for contracted buses

$2,500 per covered person for
any one accident

$50,000 per accident

actual cash value

$100.000 per loss

$50,000 per covered person;
$100,000 annual aggregate

$1 billion per occurrence in
excess of $2,500 deductible

$2,500,000 per loss in excess of
$1,000 deductible

$2,500,000 per loss in excess of
$2,500,000 primary

$5.000.000 per claim in excess
of $5,000 deductible

$5,000,000 Medical Expense;
$1,000,000 Catastrophic Cash

$3,000,000 per claim
$1,000,000 per accident

$1,000,000 per claim
$2,000,000 Total for all



WICOMICO COUNTY

PUBLIC SCHOOLS

SUCCESS = Every Student, Every Day

Board of Education of Wicomico County
101 Long Avenue * Salisbury, Maryland 21804
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